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The Bank’s Overview

® aiBANK was established in 1974 as an investment and commercial bank under the supervision of the
Central Bank of Egypt (CBE), alBANK started its operation in 1978 with a capital of USD 40 million,
which was increased to One billion nine hundred and eighty-seven million four hundred and fifty-eight
thousand pounds in 2020, with participation of 92.18% from the National Investment Bank and
7.82% from the Federal Arab Republic & it will be increased again next year.

e aiBANK provides all types of banking services to individuals through different retail banking products,
investment and treasury services, as well as Islamic banking services for which a solid legislative
committee is dedicated to work according to Islamic banking standards. That is besides services
provided to companies and incorporations through participating in financing national mega projects
via syndicated loans, which are of great importance for the national economy as well as the Bank.
Moreover alBANK finds out a link between national projects and SMEs, which are seem to be the
driving force for achieving socio-economic development currently.

® aiBANK provided its services to all its clients through (31) branches spread all over Egypt, yet, it is
working on expanding geographically, and opening new branches. In addition to expanding its ATM
network to cover most vital places.

® 3iBANK is keen to maintain client satisfaction through providing distinctive services and it seeks to
acquire the most updated IT systems to enhance performance and raise the level of its banking
services. The Bank is also focusing on enhancing the competencies of its staff through extensive
training using the most advanced programs.
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AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ARAB INVESTMENT BANK
"FEDERAL JOINT STOCK COMPANY"

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Arab Investment Bank "Federal Joint Stock
Company", represented in the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2020, and statement
of profit or loss, statement of other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Bank’s management, as the management is
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
rules on preparation and presentation of banks’ financial statements and the basis of recognition and
measurement issued by the Central Bank of Egypt on 16 December 2008, as amended under the
instructions issued on 26 February 2019, along with applicable Egyptian Laws. Management’s
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining the internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements,
whether due to fraud or error. This responsibility also includes selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is limited to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
Except for what shall be discussed in the following paragraphs, we conducted our audit in accordance
with Egyptian Standards on Auditing and applicable Egyptian Laws. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that
the financial statements are free from material misstatements.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s professional judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatements in the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the Bank’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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AUDITORS' REPORT (Continued)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ARAB INVESTMENT BANK
"FEDERAL JOINT STOCK COMPANY" (Continued)

Auditors' Responsibility

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our qualified opinion on the financial statements.

The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 were reviewed by the
auditor (member of the Accounting State Authority) and another auditor (out of the government
domain), who issued their report on 19 August 2020 and expressed a qualified opinion.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The deficit in the provision for credit losses calculated under the instructions issued on 26 February
2019, related to ECL according to IFRS 9 amounted to EGP 858 million (31 December 2019: EGP 208
million), and therefore, the accumulated losses at 31 December 2020 should be increased by EGP 858

million, which has a material impact on the calculation of capital adequacy ratio at 31 December
2020.

Qualified Opinion

Except for the effect of what is mentioned in the paragraph “Basis for Qualified Opinion”, in our
opinion, the aforementioned financial statements express fairly - in all significant aspects - the
financial position of the Bank at 31 December 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for
the financial year then ended, in accordance with rules on the preparation and presentation of banks’
financial statements and the basis of recognition and measurement issued by the Central Bank of
Egypt on 16 December 2008, as amended by the amendments issued on 26 February 2019, and in
terms of Egyptian laws and regulations related to the preparation of these financial statements.

Emphasis of Matter

As detailed in Note (2-1-2) to the Financial Statements, total accumulated losses of the Bank until 31
December 2020 amounted to EGP 375 million, in addition to unrecognized credit losses deficit of EGP
858 million (2019: EGP 208 million), which has a significant impact on the solvency and capital
adequacy ratios as at that date, taking into account the minimum capital requirements for capital
adequacy ratio, in accordance with Central Bank of Egypt’s instructions, regarding the minimum

capital adequacy ratio in the process of applying Basel regulations, that may cast significant doubts on
the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern.

JIBANK




AUDITORS' REPORT (Continued)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ARAB INVESTMENT BANK
"FEDERAL JOINT STOCK COMPANY" (Continued)

Emphasis of Matter

These financial statements were prepared according to the going concern assumption, as on 10
October 2021, the Extraordinary General Assembly of the Bank has resolved unanimously to increase
the Bank’s authorized capital from EGP 10 billion to EGP 20 billion, and to increase the issued capital
to EGP 5,000,000,003. The full increase amount was subscribed to by the EFG Hermes Holding and
Egypt Sub-Fund for Financial Services and Digital Transformation, after National Investment Bank
waived its right to subscribe to the full increase amount and the Extraordinary General Assembly
approval thereon. The necessary legal measures are being taken to implement the decisions of the
Extraordinary General Assembly of the Bank. Our opinion is not qualified in this regard.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

The Bank maintains proper books of account that comply with the Law and the Bank'’s Articles of
Association and the financial statements agree with the Bank’s books of account.

The financial statements included in the Board of Directors’ Report, prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Law No. 159 of 1981 and its executive regulation, are in agreement with the Bank'’s
books of account insofar as such statements is recorded therein.

Auditors
e, —Zacgo_uu\
Amr Waheed Bayoumi Sahar Mohamed Zidan
Allied for Accounting and Auditing - EY Accounting State Authority

Cairo: 27 October 2021
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ARAB INVESTMENT (FEDRAL JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2020

Note

Assets

EGP (000)

31 December 2020 31 December 2019
EGP (000)

Cash and bank balances with Central

Bank of Egypt (15) 454,639 1,757,264
Due from Banks (16) 10,764,577 9,023,826
Loans and facilities to customers (17) 9,915,492 7,596,705
Financial Investments

Financial investments at amortized cost (18) 6,344,070 7,540,649
Financial investments through other

comprehensive income (18) 12,632,280 1,934,667
Investments in associates (19) 270,449 250,896
Intangible assets (20) 30,115 6,949

Other assets (21) 1,348,150 1,334,343
Fixed assets (22) 367,744 407,392
Deferred tax assets (23) 10,769 14,121
Total assets 42,138,285 29,866,812
Lobittesand Equiy
Liabilities

Due to banks (24) 1,200,000 431,003
Customers deposits (25) 37,819,195 27,073,009
Other loans (26) 182,005 206,046
Other liabilities (27) 608,605 357,146
Current income tax payable 144,584 57,192

Other provisions (28) 290,924 231,311
Total liabilities 40,245,313 28,355,707
Equity

Paid-up capital (29) 1,987,458 1,540,000
Reserves (30) 281,156 257,754
Accumulated losses including

net loss for the year (31) (375,642) (286,649)
Total Shareholders’ Equity 1,892,972 1,511,105
Total liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 42,138,285 29,866,812

e = - W CWO Q\\f\\ ﬁ“r\/\

Chief Financial Officer Chairman and Managing Director

Nagy Banoub Wael Abu Ali
Auditors
%é‘?’ e
Amr Wahded Bayoumi Sahar Mohamed Zidan
Allied for Accounting and Auditing - EY Accounting State Authority

The accompanying notes from (1) to (37) form an integral part of the financial statements.
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ARAB INVESTMENT (FEDRAL JOINT STOCK COMPANY)
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Assets Note 31 Deé:g;n(t(:]%g 5’2020 31 D?EcGeP"EtO)SS)zmg
Interest on loans and similar income 3,544,536 3,458,202
Interest expenses and similar costs (2,673,545) (2,832,677)
Net interest income (6) 870,991 625,525
Fees and commission income 150,938 206,859
Fees and commission expenses (12,744) (8,076)

Net fees and commission income (7) 138,194 198,783
Dividend income (8) 2,972 1,162

Net trading income ©)) 32,518 30,186
Profits from financial investments (18) 91,570 36,729
Expected credit loss (ECL) (12) (33,814) (101,267)
Administrative expenses (10) (755,322) (718,066)
Other operating (expenses) (11) (103,213) (77,209)
Net profit before income taxes 243,896 (4,157)
Income taxes (13) (333,422) (172,162)
Net loss for the year (89,526) (176,319)
Loss per share (0.0005) (0.0012)

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Assets Note 31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Net loss for the year (89,526) (176,319)
Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss
Change in fair value of debt instruments
measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (30-b) 25,615 61,253
Change in fair value of equity instruments
through other comprehensive income (30-b) (1,680) -
Transferred to statement of profit or loss (30-b) (533) -
(66,124) (115,066)

@

IlBANK

The accompanying notes from (1) to (37) form an integral part of the financial statements.
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ARAB INVESTMENT (FEDRAL JOINT STOCK COMPANY)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2020

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

£GP (000) EGP (000)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year before income taxes 243,896 (4,157)
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year with cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation and amaortization (22) 60,949 66,718
Amortization of intangible assets (20) 7,710 11,638
Provisions no longer reguired (28) (13,221) =

Other provision charge (28) 73,013 95,251
Gain from sale of financial investments (18) (45,147) (6,825)
Undistributed dividends from

investments in associates (19) (46,423) (29,904)
Foreign currencies revaluation

differences on financial investments (18) 34,173 268,869
Amortization of premium [ issue discount (18) (25,223) (31,366)
Revaluation differences of other provisions in

foreign currencies rather than loans provision (28) 18 (2,408)
Gain/ loss from sale of fixed assets (22) (3,270) (274)
Used from other provisions rather than

provision for impairment losses (28) (197) =
Operating profit before changes in assets and

liabilities provided from operating activities 286,278 367,542
Net (increase) decrease in assets

Due from banks (16) (423,822) 3,175,525
Loans and facilities to customers (17) (2,302,537) 23,124
Other assets (21) (30,061) (351,917)
Net increase (decrease) in liabilities

Due to banks (24) 768,997 (3,070,020)
Customers deposits (25) 10,746,186 (27,726)
Other liabilities (27) 251,459 (45,373)
Income taxes paid (245,687) (159,819)
Net cash flows provided from (used in)

operating activities 9,050,813 (88,6604)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for purchase of fixed

assets and branches preparation (22)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets (22) (22,245) (178,339)
Payments for purchase of Intangible assets (20) 4214 1,105
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets (20) (30,875) (4,631)
Proceeds from sale of financial investments (18) - 476
Dividends collected (19) 2,957,248 1,481,045
Payments for purchase of investments (18) 35,903 19,947
Net cash flows (used in) provided from (10,540,572) (838,780}
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities (7,596,327) 480,823
Proceed from paid-up capital (29) 447 458

Proceed from other loan Issuances (26) (24,041) 500,000
Net cash flows from financing activities 423,417 11,973
Net increase in cash and cash 511,973
equivalent during the year 1,877,903 904,132
Balance of cash and cash equivalent

at the beginning of the year 1,625,891 721,759
Balance of cash and cash equivalent

at the end of the year (32) 3,503,794 1,625,891

Cash and cash equivalent are
represented by the following:

Cash and balances with Ceritral Bank of Egypt (15) 454,639 1,757,264
Due from banks (16) 10,764,904 9,024,151
Treasury bills (18) 11,459,357 2,020,721
Balances with Central Bank

of Egypt under reserve ratio (15) (282,757) (1,558,861)
Bank balances with a maturity of more than

three months from acquisition date (16) (10,630,879) (8,930,953)
Treasury bills with a maturity of more than

three months from acquisition date (18) (8,261,470) (686,431)
Total cash and cash equivalent (32) 3,503,794 1,625,891

The accompanying notes from (1) to (37) form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020
1 - BACKGROUND

The Arab Investment Bank (formerly Arab Federal Bank for Development and Investment) (Federal
Joint Stock Company) provides institutional, retail banking and investment services in the Arab
Republic of Egypt through its main centre in Cairo (8 Abdel-Khalek Tharwat St.). The Bank has (31)
branches and is hiring (954) employees on the date of balance sheet.

The Arab Investment Bank (formerly Arab Federal Bank for Development and Investment) was
established as an investment and business bank on 20/2/1974, in accordance with the provisions of
the Presidential Council’s decision by Law No. (1) of 1974.

In accordance with the decision of the Extraordinary General Assembly held on 3 June 2013, the
name of the Bank was changed to be Arab Investment Bank, instead of Arab Federal Bank for
Development and Investment.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 were approved on 25 October 2021,
in accordance with the decision of the Board of Directors held at that date.

2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1.1 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the instructions of the Central Bank of
Egypt approved by its Board of Directors on 16 December 2008, as well as the instructions on the
preparation of financial statements, according to the requirements of IFRS (9) “Financial
Instruments”, in terms of the instructions issued by the Central Bank of Egypt on 26 February 2019.
The financial statements of the Bank were prepared in accordance with the provisions of relevant
local laws.

2.1.2 The Bank's financial statements were prepared in accordance with the going concern
assumption and historical cost convention.

The total accumulated losses of the Bank till 31 December 2020, amounted to EGP 375 million, in
addition to an unrecorded deficit in the provision for credit losses amounting to EGP 858 million
(2019: EGP 208 million), which has a significant impact on the solvency and the capital adequacy
ratios at that date, taking into consideration the minimum regulatory requirements for the capital
adequacy ratio, in accordance with the Central Bank’s instructions, regarding the minimum capital
adequacy ratio, in applying Basel decisions, which may cast a significant doubts on the Bank’s ability
to continue as a going concern .

Despite the aforementioned facts, the Bank’s financial statements were prepared according to the
going concern assumption, as the Bank’s management studied the impact of accumulated losses as at
31 December 2020 an amount of EGP 375 million, as well as the deficit in the provisions for credit
losses that were not included in the financial statements at 31 December 2020 an amount of EGP 858
million (31 December 2019: EGP 208 million), and its impact on the Bank’s ability to continue to meet

the minimum regulatory requirement for the capital adequacy ratio, in accordance with the Central
Bank’s instructions in this regard.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
It has been concluded in the study that in case of recording a deficit in the provision for credit losses

which is the base of qualification, along with the accumulated losses, it will result in a violation of the
minimum regulatory requirement for the capital adequacy ratio.

The Bank’s management concluded to partially extinguish the accumulated losses, along with the
deficit in the provision for credit losses, by reducing the capital, then increasing the Bank’s capital to
the required capital limit, in accordance with the provisions of the Central Bank of Egypt and the
Banking System Law No. 194 of 2020, issued on 15 September 2020, through a plan to increase
capital by investors, including a deal to acquire the Bank in order to afford most of the losses and the
deficit in the provision for credit losses that were not included in the financial statements, as well as
getting to the minimum regulatory requirement for the capital adequacy ratio during 2021.

On 30 August 2021, the Bank’s Ordinary General Assembly decided, after the Bank’s management
obtained the approval of the Central Bank of Egypt, to approve the transfer of ownership of all shares
owned by the Union of Arab Republics to the National Investment Bank. The acquisition deal was also
approved, along with the contract for subscription of the Bank's increase capital shares (Note 37).

Accordingly, it was decided to legally restructure the Bank to become an Egyptian Joint Stock
Company under the Law 159 of 1981, and its executive regulations, and all laws applicable to the
commercial banks, instead of a Federal Joint Stock Company.

On 10 October 2021 the Bank’s Extraordinary General Assembly collectively decided to approve the
increase in the Bank's authorized capital from EGP 10 billion to be EGP 20 billion, and the increase in
the issued capital from EGP 1,198,437,391 to be EGP 5,000,000,003. It has been consensus approved
that the National Investment Bank shall waive its right to subscribe the full increase amount in favour
for EFG Hermes Holding and Egypt Sub-Fund for Financial Services and Digital Transformation (Note
37).

Until the approval date of these financial statements, the necessary legal measures are being taken to
implement the decisions of the Bank's Ordinary General Assembly.

2-2 ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The Bank uses estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and liabilities to be
disclosed during the next financial year. Estimates and assumptions are consistently evaluated based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances and information available. When scheduling future cash flows,
the management uses estimates based on previous experience of losses on assets with credit risk
characteristics, upon the existence of objective evidence on impairment similar to those in the
portfolio. The method and assumptions used in estimating both the amount and timing of future cash
flows are reviewed regularly to limit any differences between estimated loss and actual loss based on
experience.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2-3 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Functional and Presentation Currency
The financial statements are presented in Egyptian pounds, which is the Bank’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and Foreign Currencies Balances

The Bank maintains its accounts in Egyptian pounds and records transactions in foreign currencies
during the financial year on the basis of the prevailing exchange rates at the date of the
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the end of the year / financial year on the basis of the prevailing exchange rates at that date. and
the differences resulting from the valuation are recognized in the statement of profit or loss, under
the following items:

¢ Net trading income or net income from financial instruments initially classified at fair value through
profit or loss for assets / liabilities held for trading, or those initially classified at fair value through
profit or loss according to its type.

e Other operating income (expenses) for the other items.

e Items of other comprehensive income in Shareholders’ Equity for investments in equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

e Changes in the fair value of monetary financial instruments, denominated in foreign currency
classified as available for sale investments (debt instruments), are analysed among the valuation
differences resulting from changes in the amortized cost of the instrument, the differences
resulting from changes in the prevailing exchange rates, and the differences resulting from
changes in the fair value of the instrument. Those differences resulting from changes in the
amortized cost of the instrument are recognized in the statement of profit or loss, under " interest
on loans and similar income". The differences related to the changes in the exchange rate are
recognised in “other operating income (expenses)” The changes in fair value are recognized in
equity under “change in differences in the fair value within (fair value reserve / available for sale
investments).

e Valuation differences resulting from non-monetary items, include the profit and loss resulting from
the change in fair value, such as equity instruments held at fair value through profit or loss, and
the valuation differences resulting from equity instruments classified as financial investments
available for sale are recognized in the fair value reserve under equity.

2-4 SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are presented in the accompanying financial statements
on a cost basis, which represent the Bank's direct equity, but not on the basis of business
outcomes and net assets of the investees.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2-4 SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities, including Special Purpose Entities / SPEs, that are owned directly or indirectly
by the Bank upon which the Bank has the ability to control their financial and operating policies
(control), and usually has an interest equity of more than half of the voting rights. The availability and
effect of future voting rights that are currently exercised or transferred are taken into consideration,
when assessing whether the Bank has the ability to exercise control over the company.

Associates

Associates are the entities over which the Bank has significant influence directly or indirectly, but without
control. The Bank generally owns 20%to 50% of the voting rights.

The acquisition method is used in accounting for the Bank’s acquisition of entities. The acquisition cost is
measured at fair value or the assets given by the Bank as a consideration for purchase, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred by the Bank and/or liabilities they report on behalf of the acquiree, at the date of
exchange, plus any costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Net assets including the identifiable acquired
contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value at the acquisition date. Regardless of the minority
interest equity, the excess of acquisition cost over the Bank's interest fair value in the net assets is
considered as a goodwill.

If the acquisition cost is less than the fair value of the aforementioned net, the difference is recognized
directly in the statement of profit or loss under "Other operating income (expenses)".

The financial investments in associates are estimated using the equity method, by which the investment in
associate is recognized upon acquisition at cost, then the investment balance is increased or decreased by
the Bank's share of change in the equity of the investee, after the acquisition date, then the investment
balance is decreased by the amount of dividends obtained by the investee.

If there are objective evidence on an impairment loss of the investment in associate, the loss amount is
measured as the difference between the carrying amount at the higher of investment and the estimated
expected future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of interest, and the net sale value for a
similar investment for each investment. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced directly, and the loss
amount is recognized in the statement of profit or loss under “Financial investment gains (losses). If it is
possible in any subsequent period to objectively relate the decrease and increase in the impairment loss, to
an event occurs after the recognition of the impairment loss, then the previously recognized impairment loss
is reversed to the statement of profit or loss. Such write off should not result in a carrying amount of the
asset that exceeds the cost at the disposal date of impairment losses, if such impairment losses have not
been recognized.

Subsidiaries and associates are accounted for in the Bank’s financial statements by the cost method.
According to this method, investments are recorded at acquisition cost, including any goodwill and any
impairment losses are deducted from them. Dividends are recorded in the statement of profit or loss when
these dividends are approved and the Bank’s right to collect them is proofed.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2-5 INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES

Effective interest Rate

The interest income and expenses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss, under “Interest on
loans and similar income” or “Interest expense and similar costs”, using the effective interest method
for all financial instruments bearing interest, except for those classified for the purpose of trading or
that were initially classified at fair value through profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or
liability and distributing the interest income or expenses over lifetime of the related instrument. The
effective interest rate is the rate used to discount future cash flows expected to be paid or collected
during the expected lifetime of the financial instrument, or a shorter period of time, if appropriate, in
order to accurately get to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the
effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows, considering all the conditions of the financial
instrument contract (such as prepayment options) but not future credit losses, including calculation
method of all fees paid or received among the contract parties that are considered part of the
effective interest rate. The transaction cost also includes any premiums or discounts.

Interest income on loans is recognized on an accrual basis, except for interest income on
non-performing loans, which ceases to be recognized as income when the interest recovery or the
principle is in doubt.

The Bank ceases to recognize interest income on irregular/impaired loans or debts (Stage 3) in the
statement of profit or loss. It is recognized in margin records outside the financial statements,
provided that it is recognized under income on a cash basis, as follows:

- When it is collected, after recovering the full arrears for consumer and real estate loans for personal
housing and for small loans related to economic activities.

- For loans granted to institutions, the cash basis is also followed, where the calculated interest is
getting higher later, according to the terms of loan scheduling contract until 25% of scheduling
instalments is paid, with a minimum regularity for one year. In the event that the customer continues
to pay regularly, the interest calculated on the income-based loan balance (interest on the regular
scheduling balance) is included without the margin interest before scheduling, which is not included in
income, until after paying the full loan balance in the financial statements before scheduling.

2-6 FEES AND COMMISION INCOME

The accrued fees on a loan or facility service - measured at amortized cost - are recognized under
income when the service is performed. Fees and commission income related to irregular/impaired
loans or debts (Stage 3) are derecognized, as they are recognized in margin records outside the
financial statements. They are recognized under income on a cash basis. When interest income is
recognized for fees that generally represent an integral part of the actual interest of the financial
asset, it is treated as a change to the effective interest rate.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-6 FEES AND COMMISION INCOME (Continued)

The commitment fees on loans are deferred if there is a likely possibility that these loans will be
withdrawn, given that the commitment fees obtained by the Bank are considered as a compensation
for the continuous intervention to acquire the financial instrument, then they are recognized by
modifying the actual rate of interest on the loan, and in the event of the commitment period expiry
without issuing the loan by the Bank, the fees are recognized under income at the end of the
commitment period.

Fees related to debt instruments that are measured at their fair value are recognized under income at
the initial recognition and the fees on common loan promotion are recognized under income, upon
the completion of the promotion process, provided that the Bank does not retain any part of the loan
for itself or that the Bank holds a part of the loan for itself, but at the same actual rate of interest
available to other participants.

Fees and commissions resulting from negotiating or participating in negotiation of a transaction for a
third party - such as arranging the purchase of shares or other financial instruments or the acquisition
or sale of facilities - are recognized in the statement of profit or loss upon completion of the relevant
transaction. Fees on management consultancy and other services are usually recognized on a time
apportionment basis over the service performance. Fees on financial planning management and
custody services that are provided over long periods of time are recognized throughout the year when
the service is performed.

2-7 DIVIDEND INCOME
Dividends on the Bank's investments in equity instruments are recognized in the statement of profit or
loss when the right to collect the payment is fulfilled.

2-8 INCOME TAXES

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year, includes both current year tax and deferred tax, and is
recognized in the statement of profit or loss, except for income tax related to the items of
Shareholders’ Equity, that are recognized directly under owners’ Shareholders’ Equity. Income tax is
recognized on the basis of the taxable net profit, using the applicable tax rates on the date of financial
position, in addition to the tax settlements during previous years.

Deferred taxes arising from temporary time differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities are recognized, according to the accounting bases and their value on tax bases. The
deferred tax amount is determined based on the expected method for realizing or settling the values
of assets and liabilities, using the applicable tax rates on the date of financial position. The deferred
tax assets of the Bank are recognized when there is a likely possibility of achieving taxable profits in
the future, through which such asset can be used. The amount of the deferred tax assets is reduced
by the value of the part, from which the expected tax benefit will not be realized during the following
years, provided that in the event of an increase in the expected tax benefit, the deferred tax assets
will be increased, to the extent of what was previously reduced.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and Measurement

The Bank initially recognizes the financial assets and liabilities on the date when the Bank becomes a
party to the contractual terms of the financial instrument.

The financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value. As for those that are not
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss, they are measured at fair value, plus the
transaction cost that is directly related to the acquisition or issuance.

Classification

Financial Assets

Upon initial recognition, the Bank classifies the financial assets into financial assets at amortized cost,
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), or financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost, if both of the following conditions are met, and has
not been designated by the management of the Bank, upon initial recognition, at the fair value
through profit or loss:
The financial asset is held within a business model of financial assets held to collect contractual cash
flows.
The objective of the business model is to hold financial assets, in order to collect the contractual cash
flows represented in the investment payments of principal and interest. Sale is an exceptional
contingent event for the objective of such model and under the conditions of the Standard which are:
e There should be a deterioration in the creditworthiness of the issuer of the financial instrument.
e There should be less sales in terms of regularity and value.
e There should be a clear and approved documentation process for the justifications of each sale and its
compliance with the requirements of the Standard.

Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

e The financial asset is held within the business model of financial assets, to collect contractual cash
flows and sell.

e Both contractual cash flow collection and sale are complementary to the model objective.

¢ High sales in terms of regularity and value, compared to a business model held to collect contractual
cash flows.
Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL)

e The financial asset is held within other business models, that include trading, financial asset
management on a fair value basis, and maximizing cash flows through sale.

e The objective of the business model is not to hold the financial asset to collect contractual cash flows
or to hold the financial asset to collect contractual cash flows and sell.

e The collection of contractual cash flows is a contingent event for the objective of the model.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)
Classification (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Characteristics of the business model are as follows:

e Structuring a set of activities designated to get specific outputs.

e Representing a complete framework for a specific activity (inputs - activities - outputs).

e A single business model can include sub-business models.
The remaining other financial assets are classified as financial investments at fair value through
profit or loss.
In addition, the Bank may, upon initial recognition, irrevocably designate a financial asset as at fair
value through profit or loss, even though it meets the conditions for classification as a financial
asset at amortized cost, or at fair value through the statement of other comprehensive income, if
doing so would substantially eliminate or reduce, the mismatch that might arise in the accounting
measurement.

Business Model Assessment
Both debt and equity instruments are classified and measured as follows:

Measurement Methods Based on Business Models

Financial Instrument Amortized Cost Fair Value
Through OCI Through PL
Irrevocable one-time  Normal transaction
Equity instruments option upon initial of equity instruments
recognition
Debt instruments Business model for Business model for

assets held to collect  assets held to collect Business model for
contractual cash flows contractual cash flows assets held for trading
and sell

The Bank prepares, documents and approves the Business Model(s), in line with the requirements
of IFRS (9), and in a manner that reflects the Bank’s strategy, set for managing financial assets
and its cash flows according to the following:
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Classification (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Business Model Assessment (Continued)

Approved documented policies and the portfolio objectives, as well as applying such policies in
practice. In particular, whether management's strategy focuses only on collecting the contractual
cash flows of the asset, and holding a certain interest rate, to match the maturities of financial
assets, with the maturities of the obligations that finance these assets, or to generate cash flows
through the sale of these assets.

How to evaluate and report on the performance of the portfolio to senior management.

Risks that affect the performance of the business model, including the nature of the financial
assets held within that model and the way these risks are managed.

How to determine the performance evaluation of business managers (fair value, cash flows of
contracts, or both).

Regularity, value and timing of sales in previous periods, the reasons for these sales, and
expectations regarding future sale activities. However, information about sale activities is not taken
into account in isolation, but as part of a comprehensive assessment of how the Bank's objective
of managing financial assets is achieved and how to generate cash flows.

Financial assets that are held for trading or that are managed and whose performance is evaluated
on a fair value basis, are measured at fair value through profit or loss, as they are not held to
collect contractual cash flows, or to collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial assets
together.

The following is a summary of the Business Models, in line with the requirements of IFRS (9), and
in a manner that reflects the Bank's strategy set for managing financial assets and their cash
flows, according to the following:
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Financial Asset Business Model Main Characteristics

Financial assets at  Business model for financial The objective of the business model is to
amortized cost assets held to collect hold financial assets in order to collect the
contractual cash flows represented in the
S e R S investment payments of principal and interest.
® Sale is an exceptional contingent event for
the objective of such model and in terms of
the conditions set out in the Standard
represented in a deterioration in the
creditworthiness of the issuer of the
financial instrument.
e Less sales in terms of regularity and value.
e The Bank undertakes a clear and approved
documentation for the justifications for each
sale and its compliance with the standard’s

requirements.
Financial assets at Business model for e Both contractual cash flow coIIectipn _and
fair value through financial assets held to ihale art?:I clomplementarv to the objective of
other comprehensive  collect contractual cash et ;
High sales (in terms of regularity and value
income (FVOCI) flows and sell . ( Eguearty )

compared to a business model held to
collect contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at fair Other business models ® The objective of the business model is

value through profit  include (trading - financial ~ not to hold the financial asset to collect
contractual cash flows, or to hold the

Oloss (EVIEL) as’set managelment o8 g financial asset to collect contractual cash
fair value basis- flows and sell.
maximizing cash e The collection of contractual cash flows
flows by sale) is a contingent event for the objective of

the model.

e Managing financial assets by the
management, on a fair value basis through
profit or loss, in order to eliminate the
mismatch in the accounting measurement.

Assessment of whether the contractual cashflows are solely payments of

principal and interest
For the purpose of this assessment, the Bank defines the "principal” of the financial instrument as

the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. "interest" is defined as consideration for
time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal, during a period of time,
and for other basic lending risks and costs (such as liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well
as a profit margin.

Assessment of whether the contractual cashflows are solely payments

of principal and interest

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows of an asset are payments, that are limited only to
the asset of the financial instrument and interest, the Bank considers the contractual terms of the
instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains contractual terms, that
may change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows, so that it will not meet that condition.
In making this assessment, the Bank considers the following:
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)
Classification (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

Business Model Assessment (Continued)

Assessment of whether the contractual cashflows are solely payments

of principal and interest (Continued)

Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows.

Leverage features (interest rate, maturities, currency type).

Prepayment and extension terms.

Terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets.

Features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g., periodical reset of interest rate).

Financial Liabilities

Upon initial recognition, the Bank classifies the financial liabilities, into financial liabilities at amortized
cost, and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, based on the objective of the Bank's
business model.

All financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, on the date when the Bank becomes a party to
the contractual terms of the financial instrument.

Financial liabilities classified at amortized cost are subsequently measured on an amortized cost basis by
using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value. The
change in fair value related to the change in the credit rating of the Bank is recognized in the statement
of other comprehensive income, while the remaining amount of the change in fair value is presented in
profit and loss.

Reclassification

Financial assets are not reclassified, after initial recognition, except when - and only when - the Bank
changes the business model for managing these assets.

In all cases, the items of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and financial liabilities at
amortized cost are not reclassified.

Derecognition

Financial Assets

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial asset
expires, or when the Bank transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction, in
which the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred to a third party.

The Bank considers the expected credit risks as a probable-weighted estimation of the expected
credit risks which are measured as following:
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 Expected credit losses on the financial assets under Stage 1 are measured based on the present
value of the total cash deficit, calculated on the basis of the historical probability of default rates,
adjusted for the expectations on the average scenarios of macro-economic indicators for

the next 12 months, multiplied by the value on default, taking into account the probable-weighted
expected rates of recovery, when calculating the loss rate for each category of the debt instruments
with similar credit risks. Since these expected credit risks consider the amount and time of payments,
then the credit losses arise, even if the entity expects the full payment, but in a subsequent time
after the debt falls due, under the contractual terms. The expected credit losses over 12 months are
considered a part of the expected credit losses over the lifetime of the asset, which result from the
default in payment of a financial instrument and are probable within a period of 12 months after
the reporting date.

2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)
Derecognition (Continued)

Financial Assets (Continued)

e When a financial asset is derecognized, in the statement of profit or loss a recognition will be made
of the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount designated to
the part of the asset derecognized), and the sum of the consideration received (including any new
asset acquired, less any new liability assumed) and any accumulated profit or loss previously
recognized in the fair value reserve for financial investments at fair value through the statement of
other comprehensive income.

e When the Bank enters into transactions, whereby it transfers assets previously recognized in the
statement of financial position but retains all or substantially most of the risks, and benefits
associated with the transferred asset or part of it. In such cases, the transferred asset is not
derecognized.

® For transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards of the ownership of the asset, and maintains control over the asset, the Bank continues to
recognize the asset to the extent of the Bank's continuing involvement in the financial asset. The
Bank's continuing involvement in the financial asset is determined by the Bank's exposure to
changes in the value of the transferred asset.

e In some transactions, the Bank retains the liability of the transferred asset service in consideration
for a commission, then the transferred asset is derecognized, if it meets the conditions of
derecognition. An asset or liability for a service contract is recognized if the service commission is
higher than the adequate amount (asset) or less than the adequate amount (liability) to perform

the service.
Financial Liabilities
The Bank derecognizes financial liabilities, when the obligation under the liability is discharged or

cancelled or duration expires according to its contract.
Financial Assets
Modifications to Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

® If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Bank assesses whether the cash flows of the
modified asset are significantly different. If the cash flows are significantly different, then the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the original financial asset are considered expired, then
the original financial asset is derecognized, and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value.
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The value resulting from modifying the total carrying amount is recognized as profit or loss within
profit and loss. But if such modification has occurred due to financial difficulties experienced by the
borrower, then the profits are deferred and presented with the accumulated impairment losses, while
the losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Modifications to Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial Assets (Continued)

e If the cash flows of the modified asset recognized at amortized cost are not significantly different,
then the modification does not result in the derecognition of the financial asset.
Financial Liabilities
The Bank modifies a financial liability when its terms are modified, and the cash flows of the modified
liability are significantly different. In such case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognized at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the old financial liability and
the new financial liability on the modified terms is recognized in profit and loss.

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the

recognized amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to receive the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are only offset if it is permitted, in accordance with the revised Egyptian
Accounting Standards, or as an outcome of profit or loss from similar categories, as a result of
trading activity, differences in monetary asset and liability balance translation in foreign currencies,
or from foreign currencies profit (loss).

Fair Value Measurement
® The Bank determines the fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to

transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date,
taking into account when measuring fair value, the characteristics of the asset or liability if the
market participants consider those characteristics, when pricing the asset and/or liability at the
measurement date. These characteristics include the condition and location of the asset,
restrictions on selling or using the asset and the way the participants in the market take the same
into consideration.

e The Bank uses the market approach to determine the fair value of financial assets and liabilities,
considering that this approach uses prices and other relevant information, resulting from market
transactions that include assets, liabilities or a group of assets and liabilities, and are identical or
comparable. Accordingly, the Bank may use valuation techniques consistent with the market
approach, such as market multiples derived from comparable categories. Then the selection of the
appropriate multiple out of the scope requires the use of personal judgment, taking into account
the quantitative and qualitative factors of the measurement.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)
Fair Value Measurement (Continued)

e When the market input is not reliable, in determining the fair value of a financial asset or a
financial liability, the Bank uses the income approach to determine the fair value, according to
which the future amounts, such as cash flows or income and expenses are transferred to a current
(discounted) amount, so that the fair value measurement reflects the current market expectations
about future amounts.

e When the market input or income approach is not reliable, in determining the fair value of a
financial asset or a financial liability, the Bank uses the cost approach to determine the fair value,
so that it reflects the amount required currently to replace the asset in its current condition
(current replacement cost). As the fair value reflects the cost incurred by a market participant, as
a purchaser, to acquire an alternative asset with a similar benefit, since the market participant, as
a purchaser, will not pay for the asset more than the amount at which the benefit would be
replaced for the asset.

Valuation techniques used to determine the fair value of a financial
instrument include the following:

e Quoted prices of similar assets or liabilities in active markets.

e Interest rate swap contracts, by calculating the present value of the expected future cash flows,
based on the observed interest curves.

e Fair value of the future currency exchange rate contracts using the present value of the expected
cash flow, by using the future exchange rate of the contractual currency.

e Discounted cash flow analysis used in determining the fair value of other financial instruments.

Impairment of Financial Assets

Impairment losses are recognized for the expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial
instruments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, which are:

1) Financial assets that represent debt instruments.

2) Outstanding debts.

3) Financial guarantee contracts.

4) Commitments of loans and similar debt instruments.

The impairment losses are not recognized for investments in equity instruments.

Debt instruments related to retail banking products and small and micro enterprises
e The Bank is grouping debt instruments related to retail banking products and small and micro enterprises
on the basis of categories with similar credit risks based on the type of banking product.
e The Bank classifies debt instruments within the retail banking product category or small and micro
enterprises into three levels based on the following quantitative and qualitative criteria:
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1

The Bank doesn't transfer financial asset from Stage 2 to Stage 1, unless all the quantitative and qualitative factors
of Stage 1 are completed, the total cash proceeds of the financial asset become equal to or more than the full value
of the instalments due for the financial asset and the payable interest, and the elapse of three months of regularity
of payment and meeting all the conditions.

Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2

The Bank doesn't transfer the financial asset from Stage 3 to Stage 2 — including scheduling

processes - until all the following conditions are met:

1) Completion of all quantitative and qualitative factors of Stage 2.

2) Repayment of 25% of the balance of the outstanding financial assets, including accrued interest.

3) Regularity of payment of the financial asset’s principal and payable interests for a consequent period of at least 12 months.
Period of financial asset recognition under final category of Stage 2
The period of recognition (classification) of the financial asset under the final category of Stage 2 doesn't exceed a
period of nine months, as of the date of its transfer to such stage.
The financial assets created or acquired by the Bank are classified, and they include a higher rate of credit risk than
the Bank's low-risk financial assets rates upon recognition of the Stage 2 directly.

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECL)

e The Bank evaluates the debt instrument portfolios quarterly, at the portfolio level for all financial assets of
individuals, institutions, small, medium and micro enterprises, and periodically with respect to the financial assets of
institutions, classified within the Watch-list, in order to monitor the related credit risk. This evaluation is also carried
out at the counterparty level on a periodic basis, and the criteria used to identify a significant increase in credit risk
are reviewed and monitored periodically by the Financial Risk Management.
At the reporting date, the Bank estimates the impairment losses provision for the financial instrument at an amount

® equal to the expected credit losses over the lifetime of the financial instrument, except for the following cases, in
which the impairment loss allowance is estimated at an amount equal to the expected credit losses over a period of
twelve months:

1) Debt instrument determined as an instrument with low credit risks at the reporting date (debt instruments under
Stage 1)

2) Other financial instruments in which the credit risks have not significantly increased at the reporting date since the
initial recognition (debt instruments under Stage 1).

« The Bank considers the expected credit risks as a probable-weighted estimation of the expected credit risks which are measured
as following:

s Expected credit losses on the financial assets under Stage 1 are measured based on the present value of the total cash deficit,
calculated on the basis of the historical probability of default rates, adjusted for the expectations on the average scenarios of
macro-economic indicators for the next 12 months, multiplied by the value on default, taking into account the probable-weighted
expected rates of recovery, when calculating the loss rate for each category of the debt instruments with similar credit risks. Since
these expected credit risks consider the amount and time of payments, then the credit losses arise, even if the entity expects the full
payment, but in a subsequent time after the debt falls due, under the contractual terms. The expected credit losses over 12 months
are considered a part of the expected credit losses over the lifetime of the asset, which result from the default in payment of a
financial instrument and are probable within a period of 12 months after the reporting date.
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» The expected credit losses of the financial assets under Stage 2 are measured based on the present value of
the total cash deficit calculated on the basis of the historical probability of default rates, adjusted for the
expectations on the average scenarios of macro-economic indicators throughout the lifetime of the asset,
multiplied by the value on default, taking into account the probable-weighted expected rates of recovery
when calculating the loss rate for each category of the debt instruments with similar credit risks.

» The credit impaired financial assets, at the reporting date, are measured as the difference between the total
carrying amount of the asset and the present value of expected future cash flows.

» The Bank when calculating the loss rates, takes into account the expected recovery rates of the present
value of the expected cash flows, whether from cash and in-kind guarantees, or the historical or future
expected payment rates as following:

2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)
Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECL) (Continued)

e The Bank considers the expected credit risks as a probable-weighted estimation of the expected credit risks
which are measured as following:

e Expected credit losses on the financial assets under Stage 1 are measured based on the present value of the
total cash deficit, calculated on the basis of the historical probability of default rates, adjusted for the
expectations on the average scenarios of macro-economic indicators for the next 12 months, multiplied by the
value on default, taking into account the probable-weighted expected rates of recovery, when calculating the
loss rate for each category of the debt instruments with similar credit risks. Since these expected credit risks
consider the amount and time of payments, then the credit losses arise, even if the entity expects the full
payment, but in a subsequent time after the debt falls due, under the contractual terms. The expected credit
losses over 12 months are considered a part of the expected credit losses over the lifetime of the asset, which
result from the default in payment of a financial instrument and are probable within a period of 12 months after
the reporting date.

The expected credit losses of the financial assets under Stage 2 are measured based on the present value of the

e total cash deficit calculated on the basis of the historical probability of default rates, adjusted for the
expectations on the average scenarios of macro-economic indicators throughout the lifetime of the asset,
multiplied by the value on default, taking into account the probable-weighted expected rates of recovery when
calculating the loss rate for each category of the debt instruments with similar credit risks.

The credit impaired financial assets, at the reporting date, are measured as the difference between the total
carrying amount of the asset and the present value of expected future cash flows.

e The Bank when calculating the loss rates, takes into account the expected recovery rates of the present value of
the expected cash flows, whether from cash and in-kind guarantees, or the historical or future expected

e payment rates as following:

For the debt instruments designated under Stage 1, only the value of cash guarantees and equivalent is
considered, which is represented in cash and other financial instruments, that can be transferred easily to cash
in a short time (3 months or less), or without a change (loss) in its value, due to the credit risks, after

- discounting 10% due to unseen conditions.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)
Impairment of Financial Assets (Continued)

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses (ECL) (Continued)

Restructured Financial Assets (Continued)

If the rescheduling will not result in the derecognition of the current asset, the expected cash
flows resulting from the modified financial asset are used, when calculating the cash deficit in the
current asset. The expected credit losses are calculated over the lifetime of the instrument.

If the rescheduling will result in the derecognition of the current asset, the expected fair value of
the new asset is treated as final cash flows from the current financial asset, upon derecognition.
This value is used in calculating the cash deficit of the current financial asset, which has been
discounted as of the expected date to derecognize the asset, till the reporting date, by using the
original effective interest of the current financial asset.

Presentation of Provisions for Expected Credit Losses in the
Statement of Financial Position

The provision for expected credit losses is presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

Financial assets measured at amortized cost as a discount from the total carrying amount of assets.
Commitments on loans and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision.

When the financial instrument includes both utilized and unutilized portions of the permitted limit of this
instrument, and the Bank cannot determine the expected credit losses of the unutilized portion
separately, the Bank will present the provision for aggregate loss for both utilized and unutilized portion.
The aggregate amount is presented as a discount from the total carrying amount of the utilized portion.
Any increase in the loss provision is presented to the total amount used as a provision for the unutilized
portion.

For debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income, no impairment provision is
recognized in the statement of financial position, because the carrying amount of such assets is their fair
value. However, the impairment provision is disclosed, and recognized in the fair value reserve.

Debts Write-Off

The debts are written off (either partially or wholly) when there is no actual possibility of recovering such
debts, and generally, when the Bank determines that the borrower does not have assets, resources or
sources of income, that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the debts that will be written off.
However, the written-off financial assets could still be subject to the monitoring procedures taken by the
Bank to recover the amounts due. A deduction is made on the provision for impairment of debt that are
written-off, whether a provision has been made for it or not, and an addition is made to the provision for
impairment of loan proceeds previously written-off.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-10 PURCHASE & RESALE AGREEMENTS AND

SALE & REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

The financial instruments sold in accordance with the repurchase agreements, under assets added
to the treasury bills and other government securities are presented in the statement of financial
position. The liability (purchase & resale agreements), less the treasury bills and other government
securities, is presented in the statement of financial position. The difference between sale price
and repurchase price is recognized as an interest payable over the agreement term by using the
effective interest rate method.

2-11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are represented in the lands and buildings owned by the Bank in order to obtain
rental returns or a capital increase. Therefore, they do not include real estate assets through which the
Bank conducts its business or those that are devolved to the Bank in fulfilment of debts. Investment
properties are accounted for in the same accounting method applied to fixed assets.

2-12 FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The financial derivatives are recognized at fair value at the date the derivative contract is signed. It's
subsequently measured at fair value. Fair value is obtained from the market prices quoted in the active
markets, recent market transactions or the assessment techniques such as the discounted cash flow
models and option pricing models, based on cases.

All derivatives are reflected in the assets if the derivative’s fair value is positive or in the liabilities if its fair
value is negative.

The method of recognition of profits or losses resulting from changes in fair value of the derivatives
depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedge instrument and on nature of the hedged
item. The changes of fair value of the derivatives that are not qualified for hedge accounting are
recognized under “Net trading income” in the statement of profit or loss. “Net income from the financial
instruments designated, on inception, at fair value through profits or losses” is recognized in the
statement of profit or loss for the profits and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of the
derivatives that are managed in conjunction with the financial assets and liabilities classified, on
inception, at fair value through profits or losses.

The changes in fair value of the derivatives designated and qualified for the hedges of the fair value are
recognized with any changes in the fair value relating to the risk of the hedged asset or liability. The
impact of the effective changes in fair value of the interest rate swap contracts and the related hedged
items is taken to “Net interest income”.

Impact of the effective changes in fair value of the future currency contracts is taken to “Net trading
income’. Ineffective impact in all contracts and the related hedged items mentioned in the previous
paragraph is taken to the “Net trading income”.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-12 FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Effective part of the changes in fair value of the derivatives designated and qualified for the cash
flows hedges is recognized in equity. Profits and losses relating to the ineffective part are
immediately recognized under “Net trading income” in the statement of profit or loss. The amounts
accumulated in equity are brought forward to the statement of profit or loss at the same periods
when the hedged item has an impact on the profits or losses. Profits or losses relating to the
effective part of currency swaps and options are taken to “Net trading income”. When a hedge
instrument is due or sold or if the hedge is no longer meeting the conditions of hedge accounting,
the profits or losses accumulated in the equity at that time remain under equity, and they are
recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the expected transaction is eventually
recognized. However, if the expected transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the profits
or losses accumulated in equity are immediately brought forward to the statement of profit or loss.

2-13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer Software

Expenses relating to development or maintenance of computer software are recognized as an
expense in the statement of profit or loss when incurred. The expenses relating directly to specific
software under control of the Bank, and which are expected to generate economic benefits
exceeding its cost for more than one year are recognized as an intangible asset. The direct costs
include the cost of the staff involved in the software development, in addition to an appropriate
portion of the related general expenses.

Expenses leading to increase or expansion in the computer software more than the original
specifications are recognized as development cost and these expenses are added to the cost of the
original software.

Cost of computer software recognized as an asset over the period in which it’s expected to be
used, no later than 3 years, is depreciated.

Other Intangible Assets

These are intangible assets other than goodwill and computer software (including but not limited
to trademarks, licenses, lease benefits).

Other intangible assets are recognized at their acquisition cost and are depreciated using the
straight-line method or on the basis of the economic benefits expected to be realized from them,
over their estimated useful lives, and for assets that do not have a specific useful life, they are not
depreciated, but they are tested for impairment in their value annually, and the impairment value
(if any) is charged to the statement of profit or loss.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-14 FIXED ASSETS

Fixed assets are represented mainly in the main offices, branches, and offices. All assets are
shown at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. The historical cost includes the
expenses related directly to the acquisition of fixed assets.

The subsequent expenses are recognized at fair value of the underlying asset, considering them as
a separate asset, when appropriate, when the flow of future economic benefits relating to the
financial asset to the Bank is probable and the cost can be reliably determined. Maintenance and
repair expenses in the period they are charged are expensed under other operating expenses.
Expenses on leasehold improvements are treated annually as an expense in the statement of profit or loss.
Lands are not depreciated. Depreciation of a fixed asset is accounted on straight line bases for cost
allocation so that the residual value over the useful lifetime is estimated as following:

Asset type Depreciation period

Buildings and constructions 20 years
Office furniture and cabinets 10 years
Machinery and equipment 8 years
Vehicles 5 years
Integrated Automated systems (Computers) 5 years
Fixtures and fittings 3 years

The residual value and useful lives of fixed assets are reviewed at the date of each financial
position and adjusted whenever necessary. The assets that are depreciated are reviewed for the
purpose of determining impairment when events or changes in circumstances occur that indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The carrying amount of the asset is immediately
reduced to the recoverable amount if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount represents the net selling value of the asset or the value in use of the asset,
whichever is higher. Profits and losses on disposals from fixed assets are determined by comparing
the net proceeds to the carrying amount. Profits (losses) are included within other operating
income (expenses) in the statement of profit and loss.

2-15 IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets that do not have a definite useful life are not depreciated, except for goodwill, and its
impairment is tested annually. The impairment of assets that are depreciated is examined
whenever there are events or changes in circumstances that indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable.

The impairment loss is recognized, and the value of the asset is reduced by the amount by which
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the recoverable amount, and the recoverable amount
represents the net selling value of the asset or the value in use of the asset, whichever is higher.
For the purpose of estimating impairment, the asset is added to the smallest possible
cash-generating unit, and the financial assets in which impairment was found are reviewed to
examine whether there is a reversal to the impairment in the statement of profit and loss on each
reporting date.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-16 RENTAL

Payments under operating lease account, less any discounts obtained from the lessor, are
recognized as expenses in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of
the contract.

2-17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For statement of cash flow purposes, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than
three months’ maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and balances with Central Bank
of Egypt other than for mandatory reserve, bank balances, treasury bills and other government
securities.

2-18 OTHER PROVISIONS

Provisions made to meet obligations that fall due after twelve months from the date of the
financial statements (other than those to meet credit risk or employee benefits) are measured on
the basis of the present value of the best estimate of payments to be satisfied to settle the current
obligations at the date of the financial statements, and to estimate the present value of those
provisions an appropriate discount rate is used that reflects the time value of money before the
effect of tax. As for obligations that are due to be paid up to twelve months from the date of the
financial statements, the obligation is measured at the estimated undiscounted value, unless the
effect of the time value of money is material, so it is calculated at the present value. Reversals of
provisions no longer required (whether fully or partially) are presented under other operating
income (expenses).

2-19 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Financial guarantee contracts are the contracts issued by the Bank as a collateral for loans or debit
current accounts presented to its customers from other parties and it is required from the Bank to
pay certain payments to compensate the beneficiaries of any incurred loss due to the debtor’s
default on payment in the due date according to the debt instrument’s conditions. These financial
collaterals are presented to banks, financial institutions, and other parties on behalf of the Bank’s
customers.

Initial recognition in the financial statements is made at the fair value at the date of granting the
collateral which may reflect the collateral fees. Later on, the Bank’s liability is measured by the
virtue of the collateral on the basis of the initial recognition amount less the depreciation to
recognize the collateral fees in the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
collateral lifetime, or the best estimation of the needed payments to adjust any financial liability
resulted from the financial collaterals on the balance sheet date which is higher. These estimations
are specified according to the experience in similar transactions and historical losses and also by
the management’s judgment.

Any increase in the liabilities resulting from financial collaterals, is recognized in the statement of
profit or loss as other operating income (expenses).
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-20 BORROWING

Loans obtained by the Bank are initially recognized at fair value net of the cost incurred in
obtaining the loan. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost with the difference
between net proceeds and the value to be paid over the borrowing period, recognized in the
statement of profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

2-21 CAPITAL

Cost of capital
The issuance expenses that are related directly with issuing new shares or units for acquiring an

entity or issuing options are presented as a deduction from equity and net of proceeds after tax.
Dividends

Dividends are recognized as a deduction from equity when the general assembly of shareholders
approves the dividends. Dividends include the employees’ share in profits and the Board of
Directors’ remuneration as prescribed by the Bank's articles of association and the law.

2-22 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

All forms of material and in-kind benefits granted by the Bank for service provided by employees.
Short-term employee benefits:

Short-term employee benefits represented in wages, salaries, social security contributions, annual
paid leaves and bonus (if accrued within twelve months from the end of the year), non-cash
benefits (such as medical care, housing, transportation, free or subsidized services for existing
employees) and short-term employee benefits are charged as a expenses in the statement of profit
or loss for the year in which this service is provided to the Bank’s employees, according to which
they are entitled to these benefits.

Social Security

The pension benefits are the Bank'’s share in its employees’ social security, which it pays to the
General Authority for Social Insurance in accordance with the Social Security Law No. 79 of 1975
and its amendments, whereas the Bank pays its share to the General Authority for Social
Insurance for each period and that share is charged to the statement of profit or loss within wages
and salaries in the item of general and administrative expenses for the year in which the Bank
employees provide their services. The Bank’s obligations to pay pension benefits are accounted for
as specific schemes and therefore do not lead to an additional obligation on the Bank related to
the pension benefits for its employees other than its share in the social security payable by the
bank on their behalf to the Authority.

The Bank has a special insurance fund for the Bank’s employees. It was established on 26 January
1979 and is subject to the provisions of Law 45 of 1975 and its executive regulations for the
purpose of granting insurance and compensatory benefits to the members. The provisions of this
fund and its amendments apply to all employees of the Bank’s head office and its branches.
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2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2-22 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

Social Security (Continued)

The Bank is obligated to pay monthly and annual contributions to the fund in accordance with the

fund'’s regulations and its amendments, and the Bank does not have any additional obligations
following the payment of contributions. The contributions are recognized in the administrative
expenses when due. Prepaid contributions are recognized in assets to the extent that the advance
payment reduces future payments or results in a cashback.

2-23 COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Comparative figures are reclassified, as necessary, to conform with changes in the current year

presentation.

3 - SEGMENT REPORTS

The activity segment is a group of assets and operations associated with providing products or
services which have risks and benefits that are different from those associated with other business
sectors. The geographical sector is associated with providing products or services within a single
economic environment with risks and benefits that are specific to them other than those
associated with geographical sectors operating in a different economic environment.

4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Bank, as a result of its activities, is exposed to various financial risks, considering the risk
acceptance is the basis of the financial activity. Some risks or a group of risks are analyzed,
assessed, and managed collectively, and therefore the Bank intends to achieve an appropriate
balance between risk and interest and to reduce the potential negative effects on the financial
performance of the Bank. The most significant types of financial risks are credit risk, market risk
and liquidity risk and other operating risks. Market risk includes foreign exchange rate risk, and
interest rate risk.

Risk management policies are adopted to determine and analyse risks to limit, control and monitor
the risks and commit to limits through the reliable techniques and updated information systems.
The Bank periodically reviews and modifies the risk management policies and systems to reflect
changes in markets, products, services, and the best recent applications.

Risks are managed by Risk Function in terms of the policies approved by the Board of Directors.
Risk Function determines, assesses and covers the financial risks in close cooperation with the
various operating units of the Bank. The Board of Directors provides written principles for
managing the risks as a whole, in addition to written policies covering specific risk areas such as
credit risk, foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and the use of derivative and non-derivative
instruments. In addition, the Risk Function is independently responsible for periodic review of the
risk management and control environment.
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4-1 CREDIT RISK

The Bank is exposed to credit risk which is the risk resulting from a party’s failure to meet its
contractual obligations towards the Bank. The credit risk is considered to be the most significant
risk for the Bank, therefore requiring careful management. Credit risk is mainly represented in
lending activities that give rise to loans, facilities and investment activities that result in the Bank’s
assets including debt instruments. Credit risk exists also in financial instruments outside the
financial position such as loan commitments. The FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT and control are
centralized in @ FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT team in the Bank’s Risk Management Department
which reports to the Board of Directors and head of each business unit regularly.

Credit Risk Measurement

Loans and facilities to banks and customers (including commitments and
financial guarantee contracts)

In measuring credit risk of loans and facilities to customers and to banks, the Bank’s rating system
is based on three key pillars:

e Current exposures to the counterparty and its likely future development, from which the Bank
derive the (exposure at default)

e The risk of default failure (Loss given default).

* The probability of default by the customer or counterparty on its contractual obligations.
These credit risk measurements, are embedded in the Bank’s daily operations which reflect
expected loss through the expected loss model required by the Banking Supervision Committee,
and the operational measures can contradict with the burden of impairment in accordance with the
previous standards that depend on the losses that have realized on the date of the financial
statements (realized loss model) and not the expected losses as will come after.
The Bank assesses the probability of default per each customer using internal rating techniques
tailored to the various categories of customers. These techniques have been developed internally
and the statistical analyses combine credit officers’ personal judgment to reach the appropriate
viability rating.
Customers of the Bank are segmented into four viability rating classes. The Bank’s viability rating
scale, which is shown below, reflects the range of default probabilities defined for each rating
class. This means that, in principle, credit positions migrate between classes as the assessment of
their probability of default changes. The rating techniques are kept under review and are
upgraded as necessary. The Bank regularly validates the performance of the viability rating
techniques and their ability to predict cases of default.
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)
CREDIT RISKS MEASURMENT (Continued)

Bank’s internal rating classes

Bank's rating Rating description
1 Performing Debts
2 Standard Monitoring
3 Special Monitoring
& Non- Performing Debts

The position exposed to default depends on the amounts expected by the Bank to be outstanding
when default occurs. For example, for a loan, this position is the nominal value and for
commitments, the Bank recognises all amounts actually withdrawn in addition to other amounts that
are expected to have been withdrawn up to the date of the delay if it occurs.

Loss given default or loss severity represents the Bank's expectation of the extent of loss on

a aclaim should a default occur It is expressed as percentage of loss to debt and typically varies by

type of the debtoy seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit coverages.
Loans and facilities to banks and customers

(including commitments and financial guarantee contracts)

Estimation of exposure to credit risks to manage the credit risks is a complex matter that requires
the use of statistical and electronic models, as the level of exposure to credit risks changes
depending on the changes in market conditions and other economic areas in a complex and rapid
degree. The exposure to credit risk changes depending on the changes in the level, value and
timing of expected cash flows and the passage of time. Accordingly, assessment of the credit risk
of the assets portfolio requires further estimations of the probability of default and the related loss
rates. The Bank measures credit risk losses by using the probability of default (default in
contractual liabilities) based on the carrying amount balance of the financial instrument at the date
of Exposure at Default and loss given default.

Classification of credit risks
The Bank assesses the probability of default at the level of each customer / related group / credit

product, by using techniques to classify the customers into different categories, taking into
account the minimum rating in accordance with the CBE instructions in terms of determining the
creditworthiness of the customers and making the provisions issued during the year 2005.
Therefore, the Bank uses a group of internally developed models and evaluation techniques for
the categories of counterparties, customers and the nature of various loans in light of the available
information that is collected on the date of adoption of the used model (such as: level of income,
level of disposable income and guarantees for individual clients, revenues, type of industry, and
other financial and non-financial indicators of the institutions).
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Classification of credit risks (Continued)

The Bank completes such indicators with a set of external data, such as the inquiry reports issued
by both CBE and credit reporting companies on borrowers and the reports issued by the other
local and external credit rating agencies. Moreover, the models used by the Bank allow the
systematic exercise of expert assessment by credit risk officials in the final internal credit rating.
Therefore, this allows to consider other matters and indicators that may not have been taken as
part of other data inputs in the internally or externally developed assessment models and
techniques or through external sources.

Credit grades are assessed so that the risk of default increases incrementally at each higher risk
grade, namely the difference in default rates between the rating grade A and A- is less than the
difference in default rates between rating grade B and B-. Additional considerations for each type
of credit portfolio held by the Bank are set out below:

Individuals, retail banking products and small & micro enterprises
After the date of initial recognition, the borrower's payment behaviour is monitored periodically to

calculate a measurement of the payment pattern. Any other information known about the
borrower, supposed to be determined by the Bank, may have an impact the creditworthiness, such
as unemployment rates and non-payment precedents, as they are included to measure the
payment pattern and default rates are, accordingly, determined for each payment pattern
measurement.

(Large & Medium) Enterprises and Companies

The rating is determined at the level of the borrower / groups with similar credit risks. Any
updated or new credit information or assessments are included in the credit system constantly and
periodically. In addition, information about the creditworthiness of the borrower / groups with
similar credit risks is also updated periodically from other sources such as financial statements and
other published financial and non-financial statements.

Debt Instruments, Treasury Bills and Government Bonds

The Bank uses the external ratings issued by the institutions mentioned in the CBE’s instructions to
manage the credit risk in terms of the debt instruments in the investment portfolio. These
published classifications are monitored and updated regularly and periodically. The default rates
associated with each rating are determined based on the rates realized over the previous twelve
months, as published by the aforementioned rating agencies. The loss rate of the government
and CBE debt instruments dominated in local currency is zero.
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Classification of credit risks (Continued)

Future data used in the expected loss model

Future data is used in assessing whether there is a significant increase in the credit risk of financial
instruments and estimating the expected credit losses (ECL). The management of Bank determines
the main economic variables that affect credit risk and expected credit losses for each credit
portfolio by carrying out an analysis of historical data. The economic variables and the related
effect on both Probability of Default "PD” and the Exposure at Default "EAD” and Loss Given
Default “"LGD" are different depending on the financial asset. The Bank will use expert opinions
regarding these assumptions and estimates, if necessary.

To determine the impact of such economic variables on both Probability of Default (PD), Exposure
at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD), the management of the Bank carries out the
“regression analysis” to understand the historical effects arising from such variables on the default
rates and the inputs used in calculating both Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD).
Further to the key economic scenarios, the management of Bank establishes other potential
scenarios in addition to assumptions relating to each scenario separately.

The lifetime probability of default (PD) relating to the key assumption and other assumptions are
used, as the outcome of multiplication is determined for each assumption with the related
probabilities of each, in addition to the supporting indicators and qualitative indicators. Based on
the results of such study, it is assessed whether this financial asset is located at the first, second or
third level, on the basis of which it is determined whether the expected credit losses “ECL"” will be
computed on 12- month bases “12-month ECL" or over lifetime of the financial instrument
“Lifetime ECL".

The expectations and probabilities of occurrence are subject to a high degree of uncertainty, as it
is known to any economic forecasts, therefore the actual results may be significantly different from
those anticipated. The Bank makes the best estimate of these potential expectations and carries
out an analytical study of the irrelevant and non -similar factors for the different credit portfolios to
conclude appropriate assumptions for all possible scenarios.

Variable Economic Assumptions

The most significant assumptions that have an impact on the expected credit losses "ECL” are:
a) Consumption Pricing Indicators (CPI)

b) Unemployment Rate

c) Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
d) Gross national saving/investment
e) Real available income
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Classification of the instruments relating to the losses measured on basis

of the similar groups
For ECL provisions, groups are classified on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics, as risk

exposure within the Bank is homogeneous. When carrying out this classification, it is taken into
consideration that there is sufficient information that enables the Bank to classify the Bank with
statistical reliability. When sufficient information is not available, the Bank takes into consideration
the complementary internal / external reference data.

Corporate loans
Probability of default model (S& P) is used.

A conciliation was made between “S&P” and "ORR".

The model was updated by some economic indicates to keep the probability of default in line with
the clients existing in Egypt.

The model was updated by the ratios of change in the low credit rating of the other clients of the
Bank for two years to keep the ratios of model default in line with the clients of the Bank.

Maximum Exposure to Credit Risks — Impaired Financial Instruments
The following table includes the analysis of maximum exposure to the credit risks of financial

instruments for which the provision of expected credit risks (ECL) is recognized:
The following table represents the total carrying amount of the financial assets and the maximum
exposure to credit risk on these financial assets.

Individuals 31 December 2020 Amount in EGP (000)
Credit Grade Order of Expected Credit Risks Total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime

Standard monitoring
Current accounts 389,994 2,459 6,456 398,909
Personal loans 1,553,401 35,027 5,064 1,593,492
Credit cards 16,465 611 71 17,147
Real estate loans 314,560 = = 314,560
Special monitoring
Personal loans 36,732 109,747 9,172 155,651
Credit cards 885 1,429 58 2,372
Real estate loans 675 5,834 - 6,509
Default
Personal loans - - 31,588 31,588
Credit cards - - 5,096 5,096
Real estate loans - - 9,314 9,314
Total carrying amount 2 312,712 155,107 66,819 2,534,638
Loss provision (20,150) (16,822) (36,313) (73,285)
Net carrying amount 2,292,562 138,285 & M
Collaterals 978,331 91,667 18,739 1,088,737
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risks — impaired financial instruments (Continued)

Amount in EGP (000)

Corporates
Credit Grade

Standard monitoring
Debit current accounts
Direct loans

Syndicated loans
Special monitoring
Debit current accounts
Direct loans

Syndicated loans
Default

Debit current accounts
Direct loans

Syndicated loans

Real estate loans

Total carrying amount
Loss provision

Net carrying amount
Collaterals

Individuals

Credit Grade

Standard monitoring
Debit current accounts
Personal loans

Credit cards

Real estate loans
Special monitoring
Personal loans

Credit cards

Real estate loans
Default

Personal loans

Credit cards

Real estate loans

Total carrying amount
Loss provision

Net carrying amount
Collaterals

31 December 2020

Order of Expected Credit Risks

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime

990,130 4,155 69,675

3,106,549 506,503 88,972

1,090,255 276,770 90,504

. 67,318 25,287

= 457,942 395,183

- - 4,471

- - 1,305,636

5,186,934 1,312,688 1,979,728

(177,702) (155,642) (474,785)

5,009,232 1,157,046 1,504,943

265,289 69,905 229,427

31 December 2019

Order of Expected Credit Risks

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime
435,439 - =
641,419 44,526 =
20,078 1,920 -
221,663 = =

- 4,372 -

- 1,582 -

= 870 =

= - 8,995
1,318,599 53,270 8,995
(7,535) (852) (54)
1,311,064 52,418 8,941
2,656,061 5,650 203

Total

1,063,960
3,702,024
1,457,529

92,605
853,125

4,471
1,305,636

8,479,350
(808,129)
7,671,221
564,621

Amount in EGP (000)

Total

435,439
685,945
21,998

221,663

4,372
1,582
870

8,995

1,380,864
(8,441)
1,372,423

2,661,914

@
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Corporates
31 December 2019 Amount in EGP (000)
Credit Grade Order of Expected Credit Risks Total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime
Standard monitoring
Debit current accounts 1,149,687 137,351 175 1,287,213
Direct loans 2,178,769 2,178,769 179,635 2,954,888
Syndicated loans 1,272,549 1,272,549 - 1,386,182
Special monitoring
Debit current accounts - 5,997 99 6,096
Direct loans - 23,978 88,871 112,849
Default
Debit current accounts - = 2,360 2,360
Direct loans - 362,306 1,144,988 1,507,294
Total carrying amount 4,601,005 1,239,749 1,416,128 7,256,882
Loss provision (215,844) (108,093) (542,891) (866,828)
Net carrying amount 4,385,161 1,131,656 873,237 6,390,054
Collaterals 1,824,972 400,446 609,065 2,834,483

Loans and Bank Balances

31 December 2020 Amount in EGP (000)
Credit Grade Order of Expected Credit Risks Total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime
Standard monitoring 10,764,904 & = 10,764,904
Total carrying amount 10,764,904 = = 10,764,904
Loss provision (327) = = (327)
Net carrying amount 10,764,577 - - 10,764,577

Treasury Bills and Debt Instruments

31 December 2020 Amount in EGP (000)
Credit Grade Order of Expected Credit Risks Total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime
Standard monitoring 18,928,247 - - 18,928,247
Total carrying amount 18,928,247 - - 18,928,247
Loss provision (35,532) - = (35,532)
Net carrying amount 18,892,715 - - 18,892,715

@
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Other Assets
31 December 2020 Amount in EGP (000)
Credit Grade Order of Expected Credit Risks Total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime
Standard monitoring 1,348,150 - - 1,348,150
Total carrying amount 1,348,150 - - 1,348,150
Loss provision = = - =
Net carrying amount 1,348,150 - - 1,348,150

Loans and Bank Balances

31 December 2019 Amount in EGP (000)
Credit Grade Order of Expected Credit Risks Total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime
Standard monitoring 9,024,151 - - 9,024,151
Total carrying amount 9,024,151 - - 9,024,151
Loss provision (325) - - (325)
Net carrying amount 9,023,826 - - 9,023,826

Treasury Bills and Debt Instruments

31 December 2019 Amount in EGP (000)
Credit Grade Order of Expected Credit Risks Total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime
Standard monitoring 9,424,601 - - 9,424,601
Total carrying amount 9,424,601 - - 9,424,601
Loss provision (36,132) - - (36,132)
Net carrying amount 9,388,469 - m 9,388,469
Other Assets
31 December 2019 Amount in EGP (000)
Credit Grade Order of Expected Credit Risks Total
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 Months Lifetime Lifetime
Standard monitoring 1,334,343 - - 1,334,343
Total carrying amount 1,334,343 - - 1,334,343
Loss provision - - - -
Net carrying amount 1,334,343 - - 1,334,343
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Credit Guarantees
The Bank uses many policies and practices to limit the credit risks. The most widely adopted of
these is the acceptability of collateral for debt instruments and loan commitments. The Bank has
internal policies regarding classes of collateral that can be accepted to limit or decrease the credit
risks.The Bank accrues out an assessment of the guarantees that have been obtained when
establishing these loans. This assessment is regularly assessed. The key types of guarantees are:
e Cash and cash equivalent
e Real estate mortgage
o Derivatives margin agreement that has been signed with the Bank as a part of main offsetting agreements.
e Commercial mortgages
e Financial assets pledge such as debt instruments and equity instruments.

The guarantees held as collateral against the financial assets other than loans and facilities depend
on the nature of the instrument, as debt securities, government bonds and other qualified bills are
generally not secured, except for the asset-backed securities and similar instruments secured by
portfolios of financial instruments. The derivatives are often secured.

The policies adopted by the Bank have not been changed significantly in terms of obtaining
guarantees during the financial year, and there has been no change in the quality of those
guarantees held by the Bank compared to the previous financial year.

The Bank closely monitors the guarantees held against the low — credit financial assets, as it is
likely that the Bank will hold collateral to mitigate potential credit losses.

Written-off Financial Instruments (Loans)

The Bank excludes the financial assets that are still under compulsory collection for unpaid
contractual amounts of the bad assets. The Bank seeks to fully recover some amounts legally due
that were partially or fully written off due to the lack of a possibility of a full recovery.

Modifications of loans terms and rescheduling

The Bank sometimes modifies terms of the loans granted to the customers due to the commercial
renegotiation or non-performing to increase the chances of recovery. The activities of
restructuring include arrangements of extension of repayment terms, grace periods, exemption
from repayment or some or full interests. Restructuring policies and practices are based on
indicators or criteria that indicate — based on the discretion of management - that repayment is
likely to continue. These policies are constantly reviewed.
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Reduction and Risk Avoidance Policies

The Bank manages, limits, and controls the concentration of credit risks at the debtor level,
groups, industries, and countries. The Bank regulates the levels of acceptable credit risks by
setting limits to the amount of risk that will be accepted at the level of each borrower, or group of
borrowers, and at the level of economic activities and geographical sectors. These risks are
monitored constantly and are reviewed annually or on a recurring basis, when necessary. Limits of
the credit risks at the level of the borrower / bank, producer, sector, and country are quarterly
approved by the Board of Directors.

Credit limits for any borrower, including banks, are divided into sub-limits that include the amounts
on- and off- balance sheet, and the daily risk limit relating to trading items such as forward foreign
exchange contracts. Actual amounts are compared with the daily limits. Exposure to credit risks is
also managed through periodic analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet
the repayment of their liabilities and by amending lending limits, if appropriate.

Means of setting limits of to the risks are shown as following:

Guarantees

The Bank adopts many policies and controls to limit the credit risks. These means include the
guarantees obtained against borrowed funds. The Bank sets guiding rules for specific acceptable
classes of guarantees. The key types guarantee of loans and facilities are:

Real estate mortgages.

Mortgage of activity assets such as machinery and merchandise

Mortgage of financial instruments such as debt instruments and equity.

The financing is often granted in the longer term and loans to the companies are secured. In order
to reduce the credit loss to a minimum, the Bank seeks to get additional guarantees from the
concerned parties and when indicators of impairment are shown for a loan or facilities. The
guarantees taken as collateral for assets other than loans and facilities are determined based on
the nature of the instrument. Generally, the debt instruments and treasury bills are not secured,
except for groups of financial instruments covered by Asset-Backed Securities and similar
instruments that are secured by a portfolio of financial instruments.

Derivatives

The Bank maintains strict control limits on net open derivative positions (i.e., the difference
between purchase and sale contracts) by both amount and term. The amount exposed to credit
risk, at any time, is determined at the fair value of the instrument that provides a benefit for the
Bank, i.e. an asset with a positive fair value that represents a portion of the contractual / notional
value used to express the size of the existing instruments. This credit risk exposure is managed as
part of the overall lending limits with customers, together with potential exposures from market
movements. Collateral or other security is not usually obtained for credit risk exposures on these
instruments, except where the Bank requires margin deposits from counterparties
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Derivatives (Continued)

Settlement risk arises in any situation where a payment in cash, securities or equities is made
against the expectation of a corresponding receipt in cash, securities, or equities. Daily settlement
limits are established for each counter party to cover the aggregate of all settlement risk arising
from the Bank’s market transactions on any single day.

Master Netting Arrangements

The Bank further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into master netting
arrangements with counterparties with which it undertakes a significant volume of transactions.
Master netting arrangements do not generally result in an offset of assets and liabilities shown in
the balance sheet, as transactions are either usually settled on a gross basis. However, the credit
risk associated with favorable contracts is reduced by a master netting arrangement to the extent
that if a default occurs, all amounts with the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net
basis. The Bank’s overall exposure to credit risk on derivative instruments subject to master
netting arrangements can change substantially within a short year, as it is affected by each
transaction subject to the arrangement.

Credit Related Commitments

The main purpose of credit-related commitments is to ensure that funds are available to the
customer on demand, and financial guarantee contracts carry a credit risk related to loans, and
documentary and commercial credits issued by the Bank on behalf of the customer to grant a third
party the right to withdraw from the Bank within certain amounts and under specific terms and
conditions often secured against the goods being shipped and therefore carries a lower degree of
risk than a direct loan.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the
form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend
credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused
commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as
most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon

customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit
commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk
than shorter-term commitments.

Expected Credit Loss Measurement Policy
The Bank’s policy requires defining three stages for classifying financial assets that are measured

at amortized cost, loan commitments and financial guarantees, as well as debt instruments at fair
value through other comprehensive income, according to changes in credit quality since the initial
recognition, and then measuring (expected credit losses) in the value related to these instruments
as follows:
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Expected Credit Loss Measurement Policy (Continued)

The unimpaired financial asset is classified upon initial recognition in Stage 1 and credit risk is
monitored on an ongoing basis by the Bank's credit risk department.

If there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the financial asset is
transferred to Stage 2 and the financial asset is not considered impaired at this stage (lifetime
expected credit loss in the absence of credit impairment).

If there are indications of impairment in the value of the financial asset, it is transferred to Stage
3, and the Bank relies on the following indicators to determine whether there are objective
evidence indicating.

e A significant increase in the rate of interest on the financial asset as a result of the increase in credit risk.

e Negative material changes in the activity and financial or economic conditions in which the
borrower operates.

e A scheduling request as a result of difficulties facing the borrower.

e Negative material changes in actual or expected operating results or cash flows.

e Early signs of cash flow/liquidity problems such as delays in servicing creditors/business loans.

e Cancellation of a direct facility by the Bank due to the borrower's high credit risk.

General Bank Risk Measurement Model

The management performs classifications in the form of a more detailed subgroup to comply with
the requirements of the Central Bank of Egypt, and the assets exposed to credit risk are classified
according to detailed rules and conditions that depend largely on the information related to the
customer, his activity, his financial status, and the extent of his regularity of payment.

The Bank calculates the required provisions in accordance with the instructions of
creditworthiness, on the basis of specific ratios by the Central Bank of Egypt, and in the event that
the required provisions in accordance with the rules of the Central Bank of Egypt exceed the
expected credit losses calculated for the purposes of preparing the financial statements, the
general bank risk reserve is set aside within rights ownership with a discount on the distributable
profits by the amount of that increase, and this reserve is periodically adjusted by increase or
decrease so that it is always equal to the amount of the increase between the two provisions, and
this reserve is not distributable.

Following is a table on the creditworthiness levels for institutions in accordance with the internal
assessment bases compared to the Central Bank of Egypt assessment bases and the provision
ratios required for the impairment of the assets exposed to credit risk: -
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

General Bank Risk Measurement Model (Continued)

Internal rating

CBE Rating Rating description Provision% description
1 Low Risk 0% Good debts
2 Moderate Risk 1% Good debts
3 Satisfactory Risk 1% Good debts
4 Reasonable Risk 2% Good debts
5 Acceptable Risk 2% Good debts
6 Marginally Acceptable Risk 3% Standard monitoring
7 Watch List 5% Special monitoring
8 Substandard 20% Non-performing debts
9 Doubtful 50% Non-performing debts
10 Bad Debt 100% Non-performing debts

Maximum limits for credit risk before collateral
items exposed to credit risk (on-balance sheet)

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Balances with Central Bank limited to the statutory reserve ratio 282,757 1,558,861
Treasury bills and other government securities 10,968,402 1,975,835
Bank balances 10,764,577 9,023,826

Loans and facilities to customers
Loans to individuals:

Personal loans 1,780,730 699,312
Credit cards 24,616 23,580
Debit current accounts 398,909 435,439
Real estate loans 330,383 272 533
Loans to corporate entities:
Debit current accounts 1,161,036 1,295,669
Direct loans 5,860,786 4,575,031
Syndicated loans 1,457,528 1,386,182
Financial investments
Debt instruments 7,959,845 7,448,766
Other assets - accrued revenue 440,525 494,145
41,430,094 29,139,179
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Credit risk exposure item without taking collaterals (off-balance sheet):
Commitments on irrevocable loans and other obligations related to credit

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Acceptances on supplier facilities 62,342 223,128
Letters of credit 1,808,136 94,144
Letters of guarantee 47,794 1,975,941

1,918,272 2,293,213

The above table represents the maximum bank exposure to credit risk 31 December 2020 and
31 December 2019, without taking in consideration any collateral held for in balance sheet
items, the balances included are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the balance
sheet and as shown above, 26.58% of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and
facilities to customers against 28.84 % at 31 December 2019; while 45.69 % represents
investments in debt instruments against 31.47% at 31 December 2019.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of
credit risk to the Bank resulting from both its loan and facility portfolio and debt Instruments

based on the following:
- 68.09 % of the loans and facility portfolio is categorized in the top two grades of the internal

rating system against 72.23% at 31 December 2019.

- 81.42% of the loans and facility portfolio without accruals or impairment indicators against
81.73% at 31 December 2019.

- 98.34 % of the investments in debt instruments and treasury bills represent the debt
instruments on Egyptian Government against 96.90% at 31 December 2015.

Loans and facilities
Balances of loans and facilities at 31 December 2019 are set out below:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Stage 1 7,499,646 5,919,604
Stage 2 1,467,795 1,293,019
Stage 3 2,046,547 1,425,123
Total 11,013,988 8,637,746
Less:
Expected credit losses (881,414) (875,269)
Earmarked interests (121,320) (134,155)
Interest payable (95,762) (31,617)
Net 9,915,492 7,596,705

Note 17 includes additional information about the expected credit losses for loans and facilities.

K
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Restructured loans and facilities
Restructuring activities include extending payment arrangements, implementing forced

management programs, modifying and postponing payments. Policies for implementing
restructuring depend on indicators or criteria that indicate that there is a high probability of
Continued payments, based on the personal judgment of management. These policies are
subject to continuous review. It is usual to apply restructuring to long-term loans, especially
customer financing loans, and the renegotiated loans amounted to EGP 309,361 thousand,
compared to EGP 194,514 thousand at 31 December 2019.

Written-off loans

In accordance with the Board of Directors’ decision or its specialized committees, the written-off
loans from the non-performing loans are written-off against its related loan loss provisions and
that step is made after exhausting all the possible recovery processes.

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Loans and facilities to customers

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Direct loans 28,089 52,404
28,089 52,404

Debt Instruments and Treasury Bills
The table below presents an analysis of debt instruments, and other treasury bills according to

the rating agencies at 31 December 2020, based on Standard & Poor's rating and equivalent.

Treasury bills & other

31 December 2020 Governmental securities Debt Instruments Total
B 10,968,402 7,959,845 18,928,247
Treasury bills & other
31 December 2019 Governmental securities Debt Instruments Total

B 1,975,835 7,448,766 9,424,601

Geographical sectors
The following table represents an analysis of the Bank’s credit risk exposure at their carrying

amounts categorised by geographical sectors at 31 December 2020, upon preparing this table,
then the risks were distributed across geographical sectors according to the areas associated
with the Bank's customers.
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-1 CREDIT RISKS (Continued)

Geographical sectors

The following table represents an analysis of the Bank's credit risk exposure at their carrying
amounts categorised by geographical sectors at 31 December 2020, upon preparing this table,
then the risks were distributed across geographical sectors according to the areas associated

with the Bank's customers.

31 December 2020

Cash and balances with Central Bank

Due from banks

Loans and facilities to customers

Retail loans

Debit current accounts
Personal loans

Credit cards

Real estate loans

Corporate loans

Debit current accounts

Direct loans

Syndicated loans

Financial Investments

Debt instruments

Other assets

Total at 31 December 2020
Total at 31 December 2019

Cairo

454,639
10,764,577

356,529
1,445,994
19,835
314,735

1,049,604
4,605,049
1,457,528

18,928,247
1,348,150

40,744,887
17,281,862

EGP (000)
Alexandria/Canal/
Red Sea/ Sinai  UPPer Egypt Total
- - 454,639
- - 10,764,577
37,078 5,302 398,909
322,538 12,198 1,780,730
4,087 694 24,616
437 15,211 330,383
103,067 8,365 1,161,036
1,181,021 74,716 5,860,786
- - 1,457,528
- - 18,928,247
- - 1,348,150
1,648,228 116,486 42,509,601
1,228,779 92,489 18,603,130
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Bank is exposed to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from
open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to
general and specific market movements and changes in the level of sensitivity of market rates
or prices such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank separates
exposures to market risk into either trading or non-trading portfolios.

The management of market risks arising from trading or non-trading activities is concentrated
in the market risk management of the Bank and is monitored by two teams separately. Periodic
reports on market risks are submitted to the Board of Directors and heads of each business unit.
Trading portfolios include those positions arising from the Bank's dealings directly with
customers and market-making transactions, where the Bank acts as a principal with customers
or with the market Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of
the entity’s retail and commercial banking assets and liabilities, these portfolios include foreign
exchange and equity risks arising from investments at amortized cost and at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

The Bank uses the method of relating debit interest rate with credit interest rate to avoid the
risk of fluctuations in interest rate. The Bank also depends on fluctuated interest rate which
does not exceed 3 months except in specific cases interest rates are specified for longer period
relating resources portfolio with application portfolio to get return that covers its costs.

In addition, the Bank should not exceed the following:
« The surplus amount of any foreign currency positions should not exceed 1 % of the capital base

* The total surplus of foreign currency positions should not exceed 2 % of capital base

« The total shortage amount in the position of any currency should not exceed 10 % of capital base

* The total shortage of (local/foreign) currency positions should not exceed 20 % of capital base
Market Risk Measurement Techniques
The exchange rate risk is measured and hedged by daily follow-up of foreign exchange rates and
purchase or sale operations in proportion to market prices with the adoption of limits for foreign
currency positions and daily stop-loss limits in proportion to the risks acceptable to the Bank.
The risk of interest rate movements is measured using the standard method for measuring the gap
that affects the Bank’s profits or the economic value of the Bank.
The risks of securities rate fluctuations are measured. The Market Risk Department follows up on the
classification, sale, and purchase of financial investments for the purpose of trading and making a
daily assessment of them with close follow-up and working to set the necessary limits for them, in
cooperation with the treasury sector, while measuring the value at risk of those instruments if they
are kept for the purpose of trading to determine the extent of potential losses.
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-2 Market Risk (Continued)

Market Risk Measurement Techniques (Continued)

Liquidity risk is measured by managing all assets and liabilities inside and outside the balance sheet
in line with the Bank’s objectives in its management, through the ALCO committee, which identifies
the sources from which liquidity risks arise with the management of market risks and the work of
possible scenarios for liquidity pressure and management in case of crises.

The causes of market risks are due to the risk of interest rates and exchange rate risks that arise due
to the Bank’s daily activities. The Bank manages the risks it is exposed to in the market through a
comprehensive framework that reflects the limited acceptance of those risks. All reports are
presented to the Risk Committee and the Assets and Liabilities Committee of the Bank. market risks
are measured as follows:

Measuring the interest rate risk for positions held not for the purpose of trading, which is the risk that
arises from unfavourable movements in the prevailing interest rates in the market during a certain
period of time, which may negatively affect the Bank’s profitability and the economic value of its
equity and consequently the bank’s position and the Bank’s profitability. The Bank calculates the
qualitative and quantitative requirements regarding the rate of interest risks of the positions held for
non-trading purposes, while carrying out stress tests on them.

Value at risk of non-trading purpose according to risk type

EGP (000)
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
Average Higher Lower Average Higher Lower
Interest rate risk 60,149 60,150 60,147 6,272 16,736 346
60,149 60,150 60,147 6,272 16,736 346

Foreign exchange fluctuation risk

The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates on its
financial position and cash flows. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of exposure by
currency and in aggregate for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.
The table below summarizes the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the

end of financial year and Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorized by currency.

JlBANK



JI 9sealnap Aew sjiyoid ayy fanamoy

I311ed SI JIBASLRIYM — 23ep AJunjew ayj Jo sajep bupudal ayj uo paseq paziiobaled syuswn.asul

[eUBUL 3] JO JUnowe BulALied apnpul Jey) ¥Sii SUORENION]S S1ed 1S949)Ul B3 0] 24NSodxXa S, Yueg ay) SSLIBWWNS MO|Sq S9|qe) Byl

uawabeuew puny syueg ayy AQq Ajlep paJojuow si siyl pue Hueg aul Aq
paulejuiew aq ued jeyy bupud-al 31sa433ul Ul UORRLIBA JO [9AS] DY 10} SHWI| SIBS S10)3JI0 JO pieog syueq syl INd20 SjUsWSAoW pajdadxaun

‘sabueyd 9say) 01 anp aseasnul Aew uiblew 3salajul 9y IaxJew 3yl Ul Sa3ed 3saia3ul 3y ul abueyd

B JO JNSaJ B Se JUBWNJISUI [eULRUL 33 JO SNjeA SU3 Ul SUORRNION| JO YSU U3 SI “9°1 ‘8.4 1S2493Ul 343 JO S DN|eA JIB) pue Juawn.gsul
BY3 JO 318l 3S9.133Ul BY] Ul Sabueyd 03 anp JUSWINASUI [BIDUBUL B JO SMOJJ YSED 21ninyj JO UOREeNIdN| 3y Ul pajuasaidal a3el 1salaqul
3Y1 JO SMOJJ YSeD JO YS By “a°1 ‘yadiew ay) Ul 93ed 1salaiul Buijieaasd ayj JO S[RAS| aU3 Ul SUORENIdN| JO S1994J9 a3 03 Pasodxa Si jueg ayl

jejoL

(000)do3

SapuaLIn)
1PyI0

punod
buipals

1ejj0q sn

669'819'C 855 609 8TH'S LwZ'ov £98'¥95'C
ETEYSTOY [4d £86'ChT 8Z1'81€ 8v/'68Y'S 7€5'062'vE
811'92¢'1 v S8 £96'8/ 0/8'¥8€ 96179/
S6T'618ZE 816'C 868'ch1 G9T'6ET 8/8'401'S 9€€'8ze'TE
0000021 - - - - 000°002'T
21098 08+'0T 2651 R4S $66'62S'S 66£'G58°9€
0ST'8pE'T » LLT A 8999 1SY'€92'T
6b¥'0LC - - - - 6b+'042C
£8/'65€'9 - - - #21'908'T 659655y
660'259'C1 - - 80'89 L6V TE'T v61'256'0T
886'CTO'TT €T 12E2 SEL'YTT £0P'TSP'T 9T1SbEY'6
£06'%920T 88T'S 895'0t1 £TH'S6 085'€zS SbT'000°0T
6€£9'bSP 647'S 9z8'1 9ETT £1L'6b 686'08€

)iSii 9jed }sa4ajug
6T0T 12quiadaQ T€ je uonisod [epueuy 39N
0Z0z 12quiadaq 1€ je uonjisod jeueuy 19N

0Z0Z 42qwiad3q TE e senijiqel| [erueuy [ejo)
senyfigel| [e1oueuly JByl0

sysodap ,siawolsn)

syueq 03 anqQ

:sanijiqel| jenueuly

0Z0Z 42quiada( TE Je S)9SSe [elouruy 230
S]asse |elpueuly BYyl0

S2]eID0SSEe pue SaLBIPISNS Ul SJUSWLISaAUI [eidueUl
1S0D pPazZiHoLLE Je SJUSLWISaAUL |elDueUld

SLI0DU| SAISUSYR.dLWIOD JBLI0 4BNoJy] SJUSLLISIAUL [eIDURUlY
:SJUBLLASBAUI [elDUBLILY

SI2W0ISND 0] SaNjl|ioe) pue sueo

Syueq woy ang

jueg |enua) UM saoue|eq pue ysed

1S19SSY |eldueuly

020T 1°qui=adaq 1€

ysut abueyoxs ubiv04
(penupuo)) sy e  Z-v

(penunuo)) INJWIDVNVIN ISTY TVIDONVNIAL - ¥

@

BANK

[

@




8b1'612'C (088'vb8)  (19£'655°€) ZEP'90T 100'4ST'2 788'76b'9 (926'7€1'7)
S8e'€6S'ZT  (92€'1987) 06£'68T'C  TZO'LSH'E 99Z'€18'S (¥81'0LT'€)  81T'S9T’L
019’812k  TT9'81GZ [TT'01S  STT'9699T 162°€50'S 099'0€€’Z  90£'620'S
L6T'€68'T L6T'E68'T - - - - -
¥26'062 ¥26'062 - - - - -
v61'SE6 ¥61'5€6 = = - = =
S6T'6T8'ZE  96T'66EY [TT'0TS  STZ'9699T 162'€50'S 099'0€€’.  90/'628°E
000°002'T - - - - - 00000Z'T
S66'TEL'PS  S8T'/S9'Y L16'669'C  9€7'€ST'0T  £S5°998°0T 9/¥'090'y +T6'¥6T'TT
658°/6€ 658'£6€ - - - - -
69201 69201 - - - - -
0ST'8bE'T  0ST'8HE'T - - - - -
6v+'0LT 6b+'0LT - - - - -
€8/'65€'9 - - 01S'v0g’'s - £b/'SST 0€S'66£
082'z€9'CT €281 S8p'TEC  TSS'POT'TT ek bLT - -
886'CTO'TT 1£2'€50'C TE0'89F'C  SSE'PTL'T 999'0€'C [¥8'909 L18'0EL
LSE'6SH'TT - T4¥'192'8 988’61 -
LLS'¥9L'0T - - - - - LLS'Y9L'0T
6£9'vSt 6€9'bSt - - - - -

|eyoL
(000)d®3

3sai1a3ul
oYUM

ieaA g
ueyj 240

siead g 0}
JeahA 1
ueyy 240

lead 1 03
syjuow £
ueys 240

syjuow g
03 yjuow |
uely aiop

6107 Joquwadaq T¢ e deb bupud-ay
0Z07 19quadaq 1€ e deb Bupiid-ay
sanjiqel| jeyolL

Aynb3

suoisiaoid JBuyi0

senl|iqel| |epueul 18I0

sysodap ,siawolsn)

syueq 03 ang

sanl|iqeq| jepueuly

s]asse |[ejoL

syesse 9|qibueyul pue paxy

S19SSE XB] paLssdg

S13Sse |eppueUl JBUYI0

S9]BDOSSE Ul SJUBWISIAUT

1500 PazZIHOWe 1B SJUSLLESaAU| [RIaURUI
BLWODU! AISURYR.dLL0D JaL30 YBNOILR SJUSLLISIAUL [eDURULY
SJUSLWIISAAUI [BIDUBULY

SI3W0ISND 0] S3I|IDe) pUB SUBOT

s||iq Aunseal |

S9[IIND3S JUBWILLIBACD J3U30 pue sjjig Ainseall
yueg [enuad LM saduejeq pue ysed
S]9SSY [eIDUBUL]

0Z0¢ ‘equadeqQ 1€

(panunuo)) )si1 ajed Jsadaju]

(penunuo)) sy 19iew Z-v
(panunuo)) INIFWIODVYNVYI MSIY TVIDNVNIAL - ¥

JIBANK




4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
4-2 Market Risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis of interest rate

Changes in interest rates affect equity by the following ways:

Retained Earnings: Increase or decrease in the net interest income and fair value of the
financial derivatives included in profits and losses.

Fair value reserve: Increase or decrease in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income recognized directly in the statement of other
comprehensive income.

4-3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The
consequence may be the failure to meet obligation to repay depositors and fulfil commitments
to lending.

Liquidity Risk Management

The Bank’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Bank and monitored by
Assets & Liabilities Committee, includes:

Day-to-day funding managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be
met. This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or borrowed by customers. The Bank
maintains an active presence in global money markets to enable this to happen.

Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection
against any unforeseen interruption to cash flow.

Monitoring the liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements by the Central Bank of Egypt.
Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.

For monitoring and reporting purpose, the cash flow is measured and projected for the next day,
week and month respectively, which are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point
for those projections represented in the contractual maturity analysis of the financial liabilities and
the expected collection date of the financial assets.

Asset and liability management also monitors unmatched medium-term assets, the level and type
of undrawn loan commitments, the usage of debit current account facilities and the impact of
contingent liabilities such as letters of guarantees and credits.

BANK



4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity Risk Management (Continued)
The following table represent the analysis of the Bank’s liquidity coverage ratio:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Total value of high-quality liquid assets (1) 19,074,995 9,741,381
Total Cash outflow 18,917,731 6,094,100
Total Cash inflow within the limit

The value less than: Total Cash Inflows

75% from Total Cash outflows)” 11,507,295 4,570,575
Net cash outflows (2) 7,410,436 1,523,525
Liquidity coverage ratio (1/2) 257.41 639.40

Financing approach

Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed by a separate team for assets and liabilities
management of the Bank to maintain a wide diversification by currency and geographical areas,
providers, products and term.

Assets available to satisfy all liabilities and cover loan-associated commitments include cash,
balances with the Central Bank, bank balances, treasury bills and other governmental securities,
loans and facilities to banks and customers. A percentage of loans to customers that are due to
be repaid within a year are extended during the normal activity of the Bank, in addition to that,
there is a mortgage of some debt instruments, treasury bills and other government securities to
guarantee obligations and the Bank has the ability to satisfy the unexpected net cash flows by
selling securities and finding other financing sources.

The following table represent the analysis of the net stable financing ratio:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Liabilities & equity with weighted average 100% 16,645,635 7,701,567
Individual and small and micro enterprises deposits
(which don't have maturity date & deposits with
maturity less than one year) 5,521,267 4,928,665
Liabilities with weighted average 50% 6,048,465 5,108,562
Total available stable fund (A) 28,215,367 17,738,794
Assets with weighted average 5% 958,302 464,997
Assets with weighted average 10% 226,226 192,833
Assets with weighted average 15% - -
Assets with weighted average 50% - 391
Assets with weighted average 65% 18,870 58,811
Assets with weighted average 85% 5,943,470 -
Assets with weighted average 100% 3,187,312 3,148,465
Contingent liabilities or commitments W m
Total required stable fund (B) 10,833,414 4,278,049
Net stable fund ratio (A/B) 260.45% 414.65 %
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-3 Liquidity risk (Continued)

Cash Flows Risk Hedge

The quality of the value at risk model is continuously monitored through enhancement tests of
the value at risk results of the trading portfolio. The results of these tests are submitted to the
higher management of the Bank and the Board of Directors.

Derivatives that are net-settled
Net-settled Bank derivatives include:
- Foreign exchange derivatives: on and off-exchange currency options, and currency futures contracts.

- Rate of interest derivatives: Interest swaps, forward interest agreements, Over-the-Counter
Interest Rate options, future interest contracts and other interest contracts.

Derivatives to be settled, gross
The Bank's gross-settled derivatives include:

- Foreign exchange derivatives: currency forward contracts and currency exchange contracts.
- Rate of interest derivatives: Swap contracts for both interest and currency

I BANK
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-3 Liquidity risk (Continued)
Cash Flow Risk Hedge (Continued)
Assets available to satisfy all liabilities and cover loan-associated commitments include cash
balances with the Central Bank, Due from banks, treasury bills and other governmental
securities, loans and facilities to banks and customers. A percentage of loans to customers that
are due to be repaid within a year are extended during the normal activity of the Bank, in
addition to that, there is a mortgage of some debt instruments, treasury bills and other
government securities to guarantee obligations and the Bank has the ability to satisfy the
unexpected net cash flows by selling securities and finding other financing sources.

® Assets shown in the table represent the cash flows discounted in accordance with the
contractual maturity date.

4-4 Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial instruments measured at fair value Bank balances

The fair value of one-day variable-rate placements and deposits represent their present value,
and the expected fair value of variable-rate deposits is estimated based on the discounted cash
flows using the interest rate prevailing in the capital markets for debts that have similar credit
risk and maturity date.

Loans and facilities to banks
Loans and facilities to banks represent loans other than bank deposits. The expected fair value

of loans and facilities is the discounted value of future cash flows expected to be collected and
the cash flows are discounted using the current market interest rate for determining the fair
value to determine the fair value to meet all the requirements. This includes replacement of
funds on maturity or upon being lent to customers. The Bank is present in global money
markets to achieve this objective.

Loans and facilities to customers
They are recognized at net value after deduction of provision for impairment loss. The expected

fair value for these loans and facilities represents the discounted value of estimated future cash
flows expected to be collected. Cash flows are deducted using the current interest rate in the
market to specify the fair value.

Investments in securities
Assets through other comprehensive income or profit or loss are carried at fair value. The fair

value is determined based on market prices. If such data is not available, fair value is estimated
using prices of capital markets for traded securities with similar credit characteristics, dates of
maturity and rates.

BANK




4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-4 Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Due to other banks and customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with undefined maturity date including interest bearing

deposits is the amount to be paid upon request. The fair value of fixed interest deposits and
non-current other loans are determined in an active market based on discounted cash flows
using the interest rate on new debts with similar maturity dates.

Issued debt Instruments

Total fair value is calculated based on prices ruling in the capital markets. For securities with no
active markets, discounted cash flow model is used based on the current rate appropriate with
the remaining period to date of maturity.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Financial investments at amortized cost

They include held-to-maturity financial investments that are listed in the market and are
measured at amortized cost in case of bonds, and with respect to investment funds, the
evaluation is done at the recoverable amount (fair value).

Management believes that the fair value is not materially different from the carrying amount of
these assets.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Due from banks
The fair value of one-day variable-rate placements and deposits represent their present value,

and the expected fair value of variable-rate deposits is estimated based on the discounted cash
flows using the interest rate prevailing in the capital markets for debts that have similar credit
risk and maturity date.

Loans and facilities to banks

Loans and facilities to banks represent loans other than bank deposits. The expected fair value
of loans and facilities is the discounted value of future cash flows expected to be collected and
the cash flows are discounted using the current market interest rate for determining the fair
value. Loans and facilities are presented net of provision for impairment losses.

4-5 Investments in securities

Investments in securities include only financial assets that have a fixed or determinable
maturity date, and the business model aims to hold them in order to obtain only the investment
principal and the return thereon. The fair value of these financial assets held to maturity is
determined based on market prices or prices obtained from brokers. If this data is not available,
the fair value is estimated using financial market prices for tradable securities with similar credit
characteristics, maturity dates and rates.

JlBANK




4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-6 Due to other banks and customers

The estimated fair value of deposits with an indefinite maturity date, that include
non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount that would be repaid on demand.

The fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits and other loans that are not traded in an active
market is determined based on the discounted cash flows using the rate of return on new debts
with a similar maturity date.

4-7 Issued debt instruments

The total fair value is calculated based on current capital market prices. For securities that have
no active markets, the discounted cash flow model is used for the first time based on the
current rate that fits the remaining period till the maturity date.

4-8 Capital management
The Bank’s objectives on managing capital, which include other elements in addition to the
equity shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

- Compliance with the legal requirements of capital in the Arab Republic of Egypt.

- Protecting the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern and enabling it to continue
generating income for shareholders and other parties dealing with the Bank.

- Maintaining a strong capital base that supports the growth of activity.
The capital adequacy and capital uses are daily reviewed according to the requirements of the

Central Bank of Egypt by the Bank’s management, through forms based on the guidelines of
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. The required data are submitted and provided to
the Central Bank of Egypt on a quarterly basis.

The Central Bank of Egypt requires the Bank to do the following:

- Maintain one billion Egyptian pounds as a minimum for issued and paid-up capital.

- Maintain a ratio equal to or more than 10% between the elements of capital and the elements
of assets and contingent liabilities weighted by risk weights.
In accordance with the requirements of the Central Bank of Egypt to update the position of the
banking sector with regard to the capital adequacy ratio according to Basel II decisions.
The numerator of the capital adequacy ratio consists of the following two tiers:
Tier I after disposals includes the following:
Some of the items that will be deducted/ will not be considered and mentioned in the
"supervisory instructions on the minimum ratio of capital adequacy", Chapter II on the capital
base will be dealt with later as stated in the instructions.

e Continuing core capital after disposals (CET1-Common Equity).

e Additional core capital

JlBANK




4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-8 Capital management — (Continued)

There are some items that will be deducted/ not considered and mentioned in the "supervisory
instructions on the minimum ratio of capital adequacy”, Chapter II on the capital base. These
items are deducted from the continuous core capital if the balance is negative, while they are
not considered if it is positive.

Tier 1II after disposals
It includes 45% of the special reserve, loans and subordinated deposits within the limits of the
prescribed percentage, as well as the considerable provisions required against the debt
instruments, loans, credit facilities and contingent liabilities included in the first stage (Stage 1).
The capital adequacy ratio model includes some important notes and points which are as
follows:

1) Reserves: include legal, general, statutory, supportive and capital reserves only.

2) The “general risk reserve” is formed on the beginning date of the application of International
Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS 9), in accordance with the supervisory instructions issued to
banks on 26 January 2019. It includes the special reserve — credit, the general bank risk reserve
- credit and the reserve risk of standard (9), considering that in the subsequent periods of
application, the Bank shall abide by what is stated within the instructions on minimum capital

3) adequacy ratio “which is not to consider the bank risk reserve when calculating the ratio.”
The values of accumulated other comprehensive income items, whether they are positive or
negative, are considered.

4) Interim profits/ (losses): It is allowed to record the net interim profits within the capital base
after the limited inspection report prepared by the auditor on the Bank’s financial statements on
a quarterly basis. As for the interim losses, they are presented without any conditions.

5) It does not include the part related to credit, and the explanatory instructions of the rules on
the preparation and presentation of the financial statements issued by the Central Bank in April
2009, page 7, item (9) must be perused.

6) It should not exceed 1.25% of total assets and contingent liabilities weighted for credit risk,
provided that the required provisions against debt instruments, loans, credit facilities and
contingent liabilities included in the Stage 2 and Stage 3 are sufficient to meet the obligations
for which the provision is formed.

7) "The value of exceeding the limits set for investments in countries, weighted by risk weights."
This value must be included in accordance with Form No. 720 related to investments in

8) countries abroad, taking into account that the value of the capital base listed in the
aforementioned statement must be adjusted according to the calculated value.

e The continuing core capital after the regulatory adjustments is Clause 1.1 before excluding
contributions to financial companies (shares or investment funds) represented in Clause 1.3.1.1.
Continuing core capital before regulatory adjustments means paid-up capital, reserves, retained

e earnings, general risk reserve, and accumulated other comprehensive income items net of
goodwill and treasury shares.

Subordinated loans (deposits): provided that they do not exceed 50% of Tier I after disposals

e and that 20% of its value is consumed in each of the last five years.
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4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-8 Capital management — (Continued)

Tier II after disposals (Continued)
The following table summarizes the components of the capital base at 31 December 2020,
according to these decisions:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Capital
Tier I (core capital)
Issued and paid-up capital 1,987,458 1,540,000
General reserve 117,798 117,798
Legal reserve 39,415 39,415
Capital reserve 25,836 25,836
Retained (losses) earnings (375,642) (286,649)
Total balance of accumulated other comprehensive
income items in the balance sheet 97,856 73,917
Total disposals from continuing core capital (103,319) (75,290)
Tier I after disposals 1,789,402 1,435,274
Tier II (subordinated capital)
Provision for impairment losses on regular loans
facilities, debt instruments and contingent liabilities 186,282 141,695
45% of foreign currency exchange difference reserve 113 113
45% of increase in the fair value over the carrying amount
of financial investments in subsidiaries and associates 72,513 3,328
Tier II after disposals 258,908 145,136
Total capital base after disposals 2,048,310 1,580,410
Total credit risk 14,902,546 11,335,615
Total operational risk 139,473 1,281,809
Total assets and contingent liabilities weighted
by credit/ market/ operational risk weights 15,042,019 12,617,424
Capital base/ total assets and contingent P— P—
liabilities weighted by credit, market
operational risk weights (%) 12.57% 12.53%

4-9 Financial leverage ratio

The Board of Directors of the Central Bank of Egypt, in its session held on 7 July, issued a
decision approving the supervisory instructions related to the financial leverage, besides the
banks’ compliance with the stipulated minimum percentage (3%) on a quarterly basis, as
follows:

- As an indicative percentage as of the end of September 2015 until the year 2017.

- As a compulsory supervisory percentage as of 2018.

JIBANK




4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
4-9 Financial leverage ratio (Continued)

This is in preparation for the consideration of it within the first pillar of Basel decisions (the
minimum capital adequacy ratio) for maintaining the strength and integrity of the banking
sector and keeping pace with the best international control practices in this regard.

The financial leverage reflects the relationship between Tier I of capital used in capital

adequacy ratio (after disposals) and the Bank's assets (inside and outside the balance sheet)
unweighted with risk weights.

Ratio Components
A- Numerator Components

The numerator of the ratio consists of Tier I of capital (after disposals) used in the numerator of

the capital adequacy ratio currently applied in accordance with the instructions of the Central
Bank of Egypt.

B- Denominator Components

The denominator of the ratio consists of all the Bank’s assets on- and off- balance sheet
according to the financial statements, which is what is called the Bank’s exposures and it
includes the total of the following:

1) The exposures of items within the balance sheet after deducting some of the disposals of Tier I
of the capital base.

2) The exposures arising from derivative contracts.

3) The exposures resulting from security financing operations.

4) Off-balance sheet exposures (weighted by transfer transactions).

JIBANK




4 - FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

4-9 Financial leverage ratio (Continued)
The following table summarizes the financial leverage ratio at 31 December 2020:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Tier I of capital after disposals 1,789,402 1,435,027
Cash and balances with Central Bank 454,639 1,733,167
Due from banks 10,764,577 9,023,826
Financial investments through other
comprehensive income 12,632,280 1,934,667
Financial investments at amortized cost 6,344,070 7,540,649
Financial investments in subsidiaries and associates 270,449 250,896
Customer loans and facilities 11,013,988 8,637,746
Expected credit losses (881,414) (875,269)
Earmarked interest (121,320) (134,155)
Unearned interest (95,762) (31,617)
Fixed assets 397,859 414,341
Other assets 1,358,919 1,345,051
Deducted from exposures (103,319) (74,356)
Total exposures within the balance sheet 43,824,368 31,199,973
Export credits 461 1,219
Import credits 26,865 -
Letters of guarantee 685,542 800,736
Letters of guarantee at the request of foreign banks 3,540 5,451
Accepted bills of exchange 203,540 222,808
Capital commitments 270,020 407,322
Commitments on loans and facilities to banks/ customers
(the unutilized portion) with an original maturity period
Cancellable without conditions at any time by the Bank
and without prior notice or which includes provisions for
auto-cancellation due to the deterioration of the
borrower’s creditworthiness 677,400 268,069
Total off-balance sheet exposures 1,867,368 1,705,605
Total exposures on- and off- the balance sheet 45,691,736 32,905,578
Financial leverage ratio 4.08 % 4.56%
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5 - SEGMENT ANALYSIS

Geographical analysis (Value in EGP 000)

At 31 December 2020 Cairo Alexandria Total

and the Delta
Income and expenses per geographical sector

Geographical sector revenue 3,651,830 170,704 3,822,534
Geographical sector expenses (3,269,085) (309,553) (3,578,638)
Segment business outcome 382,745 (138,849) 243,896

Tax (333,422)

Net loss for the year _(89.526)
(Value in EGP 000)

At 31 December 2020
Assets and liabilities per geographical sectors

Geographical sector assets 34,744,039 6,985,618 41,729,657

Unclassified assets 379,048 29,580 408,628

Total assets 35,123,087 7,015,198 42,138,285

Geographical sector liabilities 39,905,088 49,301 39,954,389

Unclassified liabilities 290,924 - 290,924

Total liabilities 40,196,012 49,301 40,245,313
At 31 December 2019 Cairo Alexandria Total

and the Delta

Income and expenses per geographical segments

Geographical sector revenue 3,636,323 96,815 3,733,138

Geographical secior expenses (3,652,996) (84,298) (3,737,294)

Segment business outcome (16,673) 12,517 (4,156)

Tax (172,163)

Net loss for the year (176,319)

At 31 December 2019
Assets and liabilities per geographical segments

Geographical sedtor assets 26,068,855 3,341,983 29,410,838
Undassified assets 428,462 - 428,462
Total assets 26,497,317 3,341,983 29,839,300
Geographical sector liabities 128,034,045 62,839 28,096,884
Undassified liabilties 231,311 - 231,311
Total liabilities 28,265,356 62,839 28,328,195

@BANK



6 - NET INTEREST INCOME

Interest on loans and similar income
Loans and facilities to customers

Treasury bills

Deposits and current accounts

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000)

1,010,188
888,683
748,558

Investments in debt instruments at amortized cost

and through other comprehensive income

Interest expense and similar costs
Deposits and current accounts

To banks

To customers

Net

897,107
3,544,536

(61,624)

(2,611,921)
(2,673,545)
870,991

7 - NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000)

EGP (000)

973,686
153,300
1,409,827

921,389

13,458,202

(130,987)

(2,701,690)

(2,832,677)

625,525

EGP (000)

Fee and commission income
Credit related fees and commissions
Other fees

Fee and commission expenses
Custody and brokerage fees
Other fees

Net
8 - DIVIDENDS

Securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

9 - NET TRADING INCOME

Foreign exchange (Loss) gain

91,965
58,973
150,938

(685)
(12,059)

(12,744)
138,194

139,147
67,712

206,859

(30)

(8,046)

(8,076)
198,783

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000)

2,972
2,972

EGP (000)

1,162

1,162

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000)
32,518
32,518

EGP (000)
30,186
30,186
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10 - ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Staff cost
Wages and salaries
Social security

Defined contribution scheme

Other administrative expenses

EGP (000)

(471,998)
(14,174)
(26,793)
(512,965)
(242,357)

EGP (000)

(435,680)
(14,599)
(25,876)
(476,155)
(241,911)

(755,322)

11 - OTHER OPERATING (EXPENSES) INCOME
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

(718,066)

EGP (000) EGP (000)

Gain (loss) on valuation of monetary asset and
liability balances in foreign currencies other than
those at fair value through profit or loss 1,487 (4,113)
Other expenses = (85)
Other income 3,270 247
Impairment of fixed assets - 174
Impairment losses of acquired assets (45,757) -
Reversal (charge) of other provisions (62,213) (73,432)

(103,213) (77,209)

12 - EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Loans and facilities to customers (33,814) (79,448)
Bank balances - 290
Financial investments = (22,109)
(33,814) (101,267)

13 - INCOME TAX EXPENSES
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)

Deferred taxes (3,352) 2,561
Current income taxes (330,070) (174,723)
(333,422) (172,162)
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14 - LOSS PER SHARE

The loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss for the year by the ordinary shares issued.
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Loss for the year (89,526) (176,319)
Weighted average share 175,080,557 141,500,000
Basic loss per share (0.0005) (0.0012)

15 - CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Cash 171,882 (198,403)
Balances with the Central Bank within 282,757 (1,558,861)
the statutory reserve ratio
454,639 1,757,264
Non-bearing interest (454,639) 1,757,264
(454,639) (1,757,264)

16 - BANK BALANCES
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Current Accounts 134,025 93,198
Deposits 10,630,879 8,930,953
Balance 10,764,904 9,024,151
Impairment charge (327) (325)
10,764,577 9,023,826
Central bank 10,482,661 8,761,066
Local banks 54,119 34,005
Foreign banks 228,124 229,080
Balance 10,764,904 9,024,151
Impairment charge (327) (325)
10,764,577 9,023,826
Non-bearing Interest 134,T QB,T
Fixed interest balances 10,630,879 8,930,953
Balance 10,764,904 9,024,151
Impairment charge (327) (325)
10,764,577 9,023,826
Current balances 134,025 93,198
Non-Current balances 10,630,879 8,930,953
Balance 10,764,904 9,024,151
Impairment charge (327) (325)
10,764,577 9,023,826

JIBANK




17 - LOANS AND FACILITIES TO CUSTOMERS
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)

Individuals
Debit current accounts 398,909 435,439
Personal loans 1,780,730 699,312
Credit cards 24,616 23,580
Real estate loans 330,383 222,533
Total 2,534,638 1,380,864
Corporate loans including small loans for economic activities
Debit current accounts 1,161,036 1,295,669
Direct loans 5,860,786 4,575,031
Syndicated loans 1,457,528 1,386,182
Total 8,479,350 7,256,882
Total loans and facilities to customers 11,013,988 8,637,746
Less:
Expected credit losses (881,414) (875,269)
Suspended interest (121,320) (134,155)
Interest payable (95,762) (31,617)
Total 9,915,492 7,596,705
Distributed to:
Current balances 1,584,561 2,676,533
Non-current balances 9,429,427 5,961,213

11,013,988 8,637,746

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000 EGP (000)
Expected credit losses

Balance at the beginning of the year 875,269 869,861
Impairment during the year 33,814 79,449
Write- off during the year (28,089) (52,404)
Foreign exchange valuation differences (301) (23,825)
Proceeds from previously written off debts 721 2,188
Balance at the end of the year 881,414 875,269
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18 - FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000)

EGP (000)

Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Debt instruments - at fair value

Listed 1,364,480 792,082
Not listed 235,582 346
Treasury bills, net** 10,968,402 1,055,392
Equity instruments- at fair value
listed 531 658
Not listed 56,800 58,527
Mutual fund 26,304 27,662
Impairment charge (19,819) £
Total financial investments at fair value -
through other comprehensive income 12,632,280 1,934,667
Financial investments at amortized cost - -
Debt instruments at amortized cost
Listed 6,359,783 6,656,338
Treasury bills, net** - 920,443
Balance 6,359,783 7,576,781
Impairment charge (15,713) (36,132)
Total financial investment at amortized cost 6 344,070 7,540,649
Total financial investment 18,976,350 9,475,316
Fixed interest debt instruments 18,692,665 9,424,255
Variable interest debt instruments 235,582 346
"18,928,247 9,424,601

Financial investments  Financial investments

com;’:éggggi\?gi.:gome at amortized cost E gg tg:}ﬂ

EGP (000) EGP (000) ( )
Balance at 1 January 2020
Additions 1,934,667 7,576,781 9,511,448
Disposals 11,383,712 1,018,052 12,401,764
Valuation differences of monetary assets (668,672) (2,234,490) (2,903,162)
in foreign currencies 507 (34,680) (34,173)
Gain on change in fair value 8,377 - 8,377
(Premium) / Discount Amortization (6,492) 34,120 27,628

12,652,099 6,359,783 19,011,882
Impairment charge (19,819) (15,713) (35,532)
Balance at 31 December 2020 12,632,280 6,344,070 18,976,350
Balance at 1 January 2019 3,553,544 7,018,394 10,571,938
Additions 3 1,759,223 1,759,223
Disposals (1,629,960) (1,010,345) (2,640,305)
Valuation differences of monetary
assets in foreign currencies (43,269) (225,600) (268,869)
Gain on change in fair value 54,893 - 54,893
(Premium) / Discount Amortization (541) 35,109 34,568

1,934,667 7,576,781 9,511,448
Impairment charge - (36,132) (36,132)
Balance at 31 December 2019 1,934,667 7,540,649 9,475,316
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18 - FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Continued)
« Treasury bills, net

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Treasury bills, maturity 91 days 3,197,887 1,334,290
Treasury bills, maturity 182 days 4,989,221 461,850
Treasury bills, maturity 273 days 3,052,000 =
Treasury bills, maturity 364 days 220.249 224,581

11,459,357 2,020,721
Unearned interest (490,955) (44,886)
Total 10,968,402 1,975,835

e The value of the treasury bills secured by an insurance pledge with the Central Bank amounts to
EGP 146,035 thousand at 31 December 2020 (EGP 146,994 thousand at 31 December 2019).

Gains on of financial investments
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Gain on sale of financial investments 45,147 6,825
Impairment losses on equity instruments
through other comprehensive income - =
Unallocated gains on investments in associates 46,423 29,904
91,570 36,729
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20-INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2020

31 December 2019

Cost

At 1 January 2020
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2020
Total depreciation

On 1 January 2020
Excluded from depreciation
Depreciation cost

At 31 December 2020

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2020

21-OTHER ASSETS

Accrued revenue

Prepaid expenses

Assets acquired by the Bank for debt
fulfilment (net of impairment)
Insurance and custody

Advance payments on account of
fixed asset purchase

Others

22 -FIXED ASSETS

Lands &

EGP (000)

41,053
30,876

715929

(34,104)
(7,710)
(41,814)
30,115

EGP (000)

37,645
4,631

(1,223)
41,053

(23,213)
747
(11,638)
(34,104)
6,949

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000)

440,525
14,187

280,183
2,451

575,981

34,823
1,348,150

Machinery

Leasehold

EGP (000)

494,145
11,510

296,434
4,292

464,823
63,139
1,334,343

Others Total

oo, oo EGP (@00 EGP(000) EGP (000
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2020 318,604 147,795 28,870 138,883 634,152
Additions 300 13,200 1,143 7,602 22,245
Disposals (864) (240) (89) (2,635) (3,828)
Cost at 31 December 2020 318,040 160,755 29,924 143,850 652,569
Total depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2020 (53,840) (104,071)  (12,782) (56,067) (226,760)
Disposals 160 z 89 2,635 2,884
Depreciation (14,874) (22,528) (2,992) (20,555) (60,949)
Total depreciation on
31 December 2020 (68,554) (126,599) (15,685) (73,987) (284,825)
Net carrying amount at
31 December 2020 249,486 34,156 14,239 69,863 367,744
Net carrying amount at
31 December 2019 264,764 43,724 16,088 82,816 407,392

The fixed assets include an amount of EGP 52,102 thousand that represents assets not yet registered in the name
of the Bank, and the necessary legal procedures are currently being taken to register these properties in the name

of the Bank.
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23 -DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred income taxes
The deferred taxes during the year, whether in the form of assets or liabilities, are as follows:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Balance at the beginning of the year 14,121 11,559
Additions (3,352) 2,562
Balance at the end of the year 10,769 14,121

24 - DUE TO BANKS

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)

Current accounts - 18,736
Deposits 1,200,000 412,267

1,200,000 431,003
Local banks 1,200,000 412,267
Foreign banks - 18,736

1,200,000 431,003
Zero interest balance - 18,736
Fixed interest balances 1,200,000 412,267
Current balances 1,200,000 431,003

25- CUSTOMERS' DEPOSITS
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Call deposits 13,975,297 10,600,786
Term deposits 15,413,717 6,802,666
Saving and deposit certificates 6,833,667 7,240,586
Saving deposits 856,967 938,480
Other deposits 739,547 1,490,491
37,819,195 27,073,009
Corporate deposits 14,714,844 16,568,937
Individual deposits 23,104,351 10,504,072
37,819,195 27,073,009
Zero interest balance 13,975,297 11,235,704
Variable interest balances 7,690,634 8,607,561
Fixed interest balances 16,153,264 7,229,744
37,819,195 27,073,009
Current balances 30,985,528 19,837,825
Non-current balances 6,833,667 7,235,184
37,819,195 27,073,009




26- OTHER LOANS

Sodial Fund for Development
Housing loan for low, middle
and upper middle income

Interest rate
(%)
7

0.5-7-4.5-2.5

27 - OTHER LIABILITIES

EGP (000)
35,970

146,035
182,005

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000)
59,052

146,994
206,046

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Interest payable 373,898 218,301
Unearned revenue 14,551 5,934
Accrued expenses 87,801 64,165
Accounts payable 9,655 9,171
Miscellaneous accounts payable 122,700 59,575
608,605 357,146
28 - OTHER PROVISIONS
1 Foreign No longer
DA | forduing | oy ouna Balance s
31 December 2020  oftheyear TR o) G0 EGP(OO0) EGP(@00)
Taxes 880 12,811 - = (197) 13,494
Legal 152,998 37,253 - - (2,421) 187,830
Contingent liabilities 77,433 - 18 = = 77,451
Others - 22,949 - (10,800) - 12,149
231,311 73,013 18 (10,800) (2,618) 290,924
Balance at Srovided i b R tsed Balance at
the beginning for during evaluation during during the end of
31December 2020  oftneyear | ferew  frewes  pev pere  fere
Taxes 911 - - - (31) 880
Legal 10,846 153,839 (160) = (11,527) 152,998
Contingent liabilities 42,308 117,506 (1,362) (81,019) - 77,433
Others = & = - = =
54,065 271,345 (1,522) (81,019) (11,558) 231,311

29- PAID UP CAPITAL

(In million)

Ordinary shares

Total

Balance at 31 December 2020

Number of Shares

199
199

EGP (000)

1,987,458
1,987,458

EGP (000)

1,987,458
1,987,458
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29 - PAID UP CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Based on the decision of the Bank’s Extraordinary General Assembly held on 7/7/2014,
the issued share capital of the Bank was increased from EGP 500 million (distributed over
50 million shares, the nominal value per share is EGP 10) to EGP 1 billion (distributed over
one hundred million shares, the nominal value per share is EGP 10). An amount of EGP
100 million was paid in 2014 from the Bank’s reserves account, in the form of bonus
shares, with the value of the share is EGP 10 to be distributed among the shareholders
according to the shareholding percentage of each shareholder.

- Based on the decision of the Bank’s Extraordinary General Assembly held on 7/7/2015, an
amount of EGP 200 million was called being the value of Tier II of the capital increase.
The rest of the increase, amounting to EGP 200 million will be paid during the year 2016,
based on the decision of the aforementioned Extraordinary General Assembly.

On 30/11/2016, the shareholders paid the rest of the increase amounting to EGP 200 million.

- Based on the decision of the Ordinary General Assembly held on 25/7/2018, the share
capital was increased by EGP 40,000 thousand from the profits distributed to shareholders
through bonus shares, at 4 shares per each hundred shares.

- Based on the decision of the Extraordinary General Assembly dated 1 December 2020, the
authorized capital of the Bank amounts to EGP five billion and the paid-up capital
amounts to EGP 1,987,458,360 distributed over 198,7 million shares, at a nominal value
per share of EGP 10.

- Based on the decision of the Extraordinary General Assembly dated 30 August 2021, the
ownership of all shares owned by the Union of Arab Republics is approved to be
transferred to National Investment Bank, and the acquisition deal was approved, and the
subscription contract was approved (as detailed in the note of subsequent events no. 37
to the financial statements).

- Based on the decision of the Extraordinary General Assembly dated 10 October 2021, the
approved amount of the Bank'’s authorized share capital is EGP 10 billion and the issued
share capital is EGP 1,198,437,391 Egyptian pounds, divided into 198,745,836 nominal
cash shares, the value of each share is (EGP 6.03). It was also unanimously approved to
increase the Bank'’s authorized capital from EGP 10 billion to EGP 20 billion, and to
increase the issued capital from EGP 1,198,437,391 to EGP 5,000,000,003 distributed over
829,187,397 nominal cash shares, the value of the share is (EGP 6.03), with an increase
of EGP 3,801,562,612 to be as follows:

29 - PAID UP CAPITAL
Shareholder's Name

Number of Shares Nominal Value Percentage

nationality
EFG Hermes Holding LLC 423,059,469 2,551,048,598 51%
Egypt Sub-Fund for Financial
Services and Digital Transformation 207,382,092 1,250,514,014 25%
National Investment Bank 198,745,836 1,198,437,391 24%
Total 829,187,397 5,000,000,003 100%
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30 - RESERVES

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Legal reserve 39,415 39,415
Fair value reserve for financial investments
through other other comprehensive income 97,856 74,454
Special reserve 251 251
Capital reserve 25,836 25,836
General reserve 117,798 117,798

281,156 257,754

The movement of reserves is as follows:

a- Legal reserve
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Balance at the beginning of the year 39,415 39,415
Transferred from retained earnings - -
Balance at the end of the year 39,415 39,415

b- Fair value reserve for financial investments through other
comprehensive income

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Balance at the beginning of the year 74,454 13,201
Net change in fair value 31,808 64,155
Reserve of financial investments transferred
from financial investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income to financial
investments at amortized cost (4,067) (3,202)
Net profits transferred to the statement of profit
or loss due to disposal (4,339) 300
Balance at the end of the year 97,856 74,454

c- Special reserve
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Balance at the beginning of the year 251 251
Balance at the end of the year 251 251

d- Capital reserve
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Balance at the beginning of the year 25,836 25,836
Transferred from retained earnings - -
Balance at the end of the year 25,836 25,836
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30 - RESERVES (Continued)
e- General Reserve

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Balance at the beginning of the year 117,798 117,798
Transferred from retained earnings - -
Balance at the end of the year 117,798 117,798

31 - ACCUMULATED LOSSES
31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)

Balance at the beginning of the year (286,649) (286,649)
Transferred to capital reserve - -
Transferred from bank risk reserve - -

Gain on sale of equity instruments through

other comprehensive income 533 533

Gain on sale of equity instruments = -

Impact of applying IFRS 9 = -

Net loss for the year (89,526 (89,526
Balance at the end of the year (375,642) (375,642)

32 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
For the purposes of presenting the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include the
following balances whose maturity dates do not exceed three months from the date of acquisition:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Cash and balances with Central Bank 171,882 198,403
Due from banks 134,025 93,198
Treasury bills, maturity 91 days 3,197,887 1,334,290

33 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES & COMMITMENTS
a- Capital commitments
Financial investments

The value of commitments related to financial investments for which payment was not requested
until the date of the financial position at 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Contribution amount  Amount paid Residual amount

USD (000) USD (000) USD (000)
African Export-Import Bank 1.066 586 480
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33 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES & COMMITMENTS (Continued)
b- Commitments on loans, guarantees and facilities
The Bank's commitments on loans and facilities are as follows:

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000)
Letters of guarantee 1,378,163 1,612,373
Letters of credit (import and export) 144,349 54,270
Acceptances for supplier facilities 203,540 222,808
1,726,052 1,889,451

34 - TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
The transactions and balances of related parties at the end of the financial year are as follows:
a- Loans and facilities to related parties

Associates Interest income

31 December 2020 31 December 2019 31 December 2020 31 December 2019
EGP (000) EGP (000) EGP (000) EGP (000)

Loans and facilities to customers
Loans outstanding at the end of the year  50.000 - 1.045 5

b- Deposits, current accounts and other balances from related parties

Deposits Deposit costs

31 December 2020 31 December 2019 31 December 2020 31 December 2019

EGP (000) EGP (000) EGP (000) EGP (000)
Due to shareholders
Deposits and current accounts
at the end of the year 1,505,867 223,910 = 999
Due to customers

Deposits, current accounts and

others at the end of the year 68,387 101,374 37 1,259
Total 1,574,254 325,284 37 2,258

C) The monthly average of the total annual net income of the twenty persons who receive the
largest bonuses and salaries in the Bank collectively amounted to EGP 2,060 184 for the fiscal
year ended 31 December 2020 compared to EGP 1,820,199 for the fiscal year ended 31
December 2019.

35 - INVESTMENT FUNDS

They are one of the banking activities licensed to the Bank under Capital Market Law No. 95 of
1992 and its executive regulation.
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35 - INVESTMENT FUNDS(Continued)
1- Arab Investment Bank Monetary Fund (with cumulative daily interest in Egyptian pounds)

The fund is managed by EFG Hermes Investment Funds Management Company. The
number of investment certificates of this fund is 11,959,161 and the value of which is EGP
119,591,610. The Bank allocated 500 thousand units out of them (its nominal value is EGP
5 million) to practice the fund’s activity.

The redemption value of the certificate at 31 December 2020 was about EGP 10.81 and
the number of the fund’s certificate on the same date was 43,965,153 documents.

In accordance with the fund management contract as well as the subscription prospectus,
the Arab Investment Bank receives fees and commissions in return for its supervision over
the fund, as well as the other administrative services it performs. The total commissions
amounted to EGP 1,432 thousand for the financial position ended at 31 December 2020,
and they were included under “fee and commissions income/ other fees” in the statement
of profit or loss.

2- Arab Investment Bank second investment fund (Halal)
The fund is managed by Cairo Investment Funds Management Company. The number of

investment certificates of this fund is 26,954 certificate and the value of which is EGP
26,954,900. Also, 50,000 certificates of these were allocated to the Bank (with a nominal
value of EGP 5 million) to carry out the fund's activity.

The redemption value of the unit at 31 December 2020 was about EGP 170.36 and the
number of the Fund'’s certificates on the same date was 65,225 certificates.

According to the fund management contract as well as the subscription prospectus, the
Arab Investment Bank receives fees and commissions in return for its supervision over the
fund, as well as the other administrative services it performs. The total commissions
amounted to EGP 40,000 for the financial position ended 31 December 2020, and they
were included under “fee and commission income/other fees income” in the statement of
profit or loss.

3- Arab Investment Bank third investment fund for Fixed Income
Instruments (Sindy)

The fund is managed by (HC Securities and Investment). The number of investment
certificates of this fund is 5,206,672 certificates and the value of which is EGP 52,066,720.
Also, 500,000 of these were allocated to the Bank (with a nominal value of EGP 5 million)
to practice the fund's activity.

The redemption value of the unit at 31 December 2020 was about EGP 12.46, and the
number of the Fund'’s certificates on the same date was 56,600.96 certificate.

In accordance with the fund management contract as well as the subscription prospectus,
the Arab Investment Bank receives fees and commissions in return for its supervision over
the fund, as well as the other administrative services it performs. The total commissions
amounted to EGP 23,000 for the financial position ended 31 December 2020, and they
were included under “fee and commission income/other fees income” in the statement of
profit or loss.
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36 - TAX POSITION

Business profit tax
- Inspection was conducted and disputes were resolved by re-inspection and payment of

tax differences until 2014.

- Years 2015-2019

They have not been inspected yet, and the Bank pays the tax payable by the employees
monthly on the legal date.

Stamp tax
Inspection was conducted, disputes were resolved, and tax was paid until 2016 in light of

the protocol concluded between the Tax Authority and the Federation of Egyptian Banks.
Inspection, payment and dispute settlement were done for the years 2017 and 2018.
But regarding the year 2019, payments are made periodically, but the inspection is not
conducted yet.

Finance company profit Tax
The year from 1980- 2004

Inspection, accounting, final assessment and payment were made for these years.

The years 2005/2006/2007

The Bank submitted its returns in light of the provisions of Law 91 of 2005, and the years
2005, 2006, 2007 were inspected and the amounts due were paid in full.

The years 2008 to 2010

The Bank submitted its returns and paid the tax for these years and appealed against it,
and the dispute was resolved through the internal committee, and a provision was made
for the agreed value.

The years from 2011 to 2014

The tax was inspected for those periods and the inspection resulted in tax differences that
were paid in full.

The years from 2015- 2017

The tax was inspected for those periods, noting that the Bank submits the returns on the
stipulated dates. The inspection resulted in a tax on the independent base, and the
dispute with the Tax Authority is under settlement, and a provision was made for the
value in dispute.

The years 2018- 2019

The return has been submitted to the Tax Authority and is awaiting the presentation process.

Real estate tax

The inspection was conducted. The assessments sent to the Bank for all branches were
appealed against, and the Bank has paid all the amounts due so as to avoid being
subjected to a delay penalty till adjudicating on the submitted appeals.
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37 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS ( continued)

Subsequent to the date of preparing the financial statements and before the date of
issuance, the Bank’s Ordinary General Assembly was held on 30 August 2021, where the
following was approved:

a) Transfer of ownership of all shares owned by the Union of Arab Republics to the National Investment Bank,
not less than the fair value of the share specified by the independent financial advisor of the Bank.
The acquisition deal and the approval on the contract for subscription of the Bank’s share capital increase,
b)where the structure of the shareholders after implementation will become as follows:

Shareholders Number of shares Nominal Value Percentage
EFG Hermes Holdings 423059469 2,551,048,598 %51
Egypt Sub-Fund for Financial
Services and Digital Transformation 207382092 1,250,514,014 %25
National Investment Bank 198745836 1,198,437,391 %24

C) The legal restructuring of the Bank to become an Egyptian joint stock company under Law No. 159 of 1981

- and its executive regulation, as amended, and all the laws applicable to commercial banks instead of a federal
joint stock company.

d) Reissuance of the Bank's new articles of association in light of the provisions of Law No. 159 of 1981 and its
executive regulations, as amended, in accordance with the form agreed upon between the parties to the

- subscription contract.

The Bank's Ordinary and Extraordinary General Assembly Meetings were also held on 10 October 2021, where
the following was approved:

A) Recognition of losses amounting to EGP 789,020 thousand, which represents the value of the deficit in the
financial provisions required to cover the credit losses in the audited financial statements for the third quarter
of 2020 according to the financial position on 30/9/2020 (after reduction to reduce losses).

- The authorized capital of the Bank is determined to be EGP 10 billion and the issued capital of the Bank to be

B)EGP 1,198.437,391 divided into 198,745,836 nominal cash shares, with the value of each share is (EGP 6.03).

Approving the Bank's fair value at an amount of EGP 1.1 billion according to the study prepared by the
independent financial advisor in order to increase the Bank's issued capital pursuant to Article (17) of the

C)executive regulations of the capital market law.

Unanimous approval of the National Investment Bank's waiver of its right to subscribe to the full value of the
increase in favour of EFG Hermes Holding and Egypt Sub-Fund for Financial Services and Digital

D)Transformation.

Unanimous approval of the increase of the Bank’s authorized capital from EGP 10 billion to EGP 20 billion and
increase of the issued capital from EGP 1,198,437,391 to EGP 5,000,000,003 distributed over 829,187,397
e)nominal cash shares and the value of the share is (EGP 6.03), with an increase of EGP 3,801,562,612 as

follows:

Shareholders Number of shares Nominal Value Percentage
EFG Hermes Holdings 423059469 2,551,048,598 %51
Egypt Sub-Fund for Financial 207382092 1,250,514,014 %25
Services and Digital Transformation
National Investment Bank 198745836 1,198,437,391 %24
Total 829187397 5,000,000,003 %100

Until the date of approval of these financial statements, the Bank's management takes the necessary legal
actions to implement the decisions of the Bank's Ordinary General Assembly after obtaining the final approval
of the Central Bank
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Head Office
Cairo Sky Building - 8 Abdel Khalek Tharwat St.- Cairo.

Cairo Branch
Cairo Sky Building - 8 Abdel Khalek Tharwat St.- Cairo.

Mosadak Branch
59 Mosadak St. - Dokki.

Zamalek Club Branch
No.26 - 26 July St. - beside Zamalek Club Gate - El
Mohandseen.

Lebanon square Branch
56 Lebanon St. - El Mohandseen

Zamalek Branch
44 Mohamed Mazhr St. - Zamalek.

Giza Branch
Sky Center Building - 28 Mourad St. - Giza.

Faisal Branch
48 King Faisal St. - Giza.

Galleria Branch
Unit no. A53 - Galleria 40 Mall - ELSheikh Zayed.

Shobra Branch
AghaKhan Towers - Cornich EINile - Shobra.

Maadi Branch - Degla
206 St., Salah Salem - Degla El Maadi - Cairo.

Maadi Branch - EINasr
EINasr Street - El Maadi - Cairo.

Nasr City Branch
Nasr Center Building - Abass El Akaad St.- Nasr City -
Cairo.

City Stars Branch
Unit no. 110 - City Stars Mall - Nasr City.

Obour Building Branch
7 Obour Building - Salah Salem St.

Nehru Branch
40 Nehru St. - Behind Merryland - Heliopolis.

% 16697 f | aiBankEgypt

El Khalefa El Mamoun Branch
27 El Khalefa El Mamoun St. - Heliopolis

Al Tagamoa Al Khamis Branch
Concord Mall - 90th St. - New Cairo.

Arena Mall
Arena Mall - Al Tagamoa Al Khamis

Tenth of Ramadan Branch
Plot No. 1/4/D the second phase - Tenth of
Ramadan city.

Obour Branch
Unit No. 17/18 Commercial Mall - Golf City
Mall.

Alexandria Branch
68 El Horeya Road - Alexandria.

Smouha Branch

107 Albert Al Awal St. - Ali Ibn Abi Taleb
square

Smouha - Alexandria.

Port Said Branch

23rd of July & Qaitbay St., Joly Ville Building
- Port Said.

Al Menia Branch

236 Cornish El Nile St.

Suez Branch
45/45A ELShohadaa St. - City Mall - Suez
City.

Ismailia Branch
Creen Plaza Mall - Ismailia Channel St. -
Ismailia.

Damietta Branch
AlSayad Plaza, Cornish EINile, Damietta.

Islamic Branches

Zamalek Islamic Branch

8 El Mansour Mohamed St. - Zamalek -
Cairo.

Alexandria Sporting Islamic Branch
303 El Horeya Road Sporting- Alexandria.

Opehing soon

Strip Mall Branch.

ELMoqattam Branch.

Zamalek Branch - ELMansour Mohamed.
ElHaram Branch.

www.aibegypt.com
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